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Introductory Note

On March 13, 2020, pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 2, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and
among Cleveland-Cliffs Inc., an Ohio corporation (“Cliffs”), AK Steel Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“AK Steel”), and Pepper Merger Sub Inc., a
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Cliffs (“Merger Sub”), Merger Sub merged with and into AK Steel with AK Steel surviving the merger as
a wholly owned subsidiary of Cliffs (the “Merger”). On March 13, 2020, Cliffs issued a press release announcing the consummation of the Merger (the “Merger
Press Release”). A copy of the Merger Press Release is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

As previously disclosed, under the terms of the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger, each share of AK Steel common stock, par
value $0.01 per share (“AK Steel common stock”), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than AK Steel restricted
shares and shares of AK Steel common stock owned by Cliffs, Merger Sub or AK Steel) were converted into 0.400 (the “Exchange Ratio”) common shares,
par value $0.125 per share, of Cliffs (“Cliffs common shares”) (as well as cash in lieu of any fractional Cliffs common shares). Cliffs will issue 127,172,764
Cliffs common shares in connection with the Merger, exclusive of common shares issuable in connection with converted AK Steel equity awards and options.

As previously disclosed, upon consummation of the Merger, each outstanding (i) restricted stock unit in respect of AK Steel common stock with only
time-based vesting requirements (“AK Steel RSU”), (ii) performance share award in respect of AK Steel common stock with any performance-based vesting
requirements (“AK Steel PSA”), (iii) share of AK Steel common stock subject to vesting, repurchase or other lapse restrictions (“AK Steel Restricted Share”)
and (iv) option to purchase a share of AK Steel common stock (excluding certain options granted under an AK Steel equity plan in effect prior to 2016 for
which the option holder has elected to receive cash consideration as described in the Merger Agreement) (“AK Steel Option”), in each case, whether vested or
unvested, will be converted, based on the Exchange Ratio, into a corresponding award denominated in Cliffs common shares. In the case of AK Steel PSAs,
the performance goals have been adjusted to take into account the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Except as described in this
paragraph, each converted AK Steel RSU, AK Steel PSA, AK Steel Restricted Share and AK Steel Option, as applicable, will, in general, continue to be
governed by the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the respective awards immediately prior to the consummation of the Merger.

The issuance of Cliffs common shares in connection with the Merger was registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”) pursuant to Cliffs’ registration statement on Form S‑4 (Registration No. 333-235855), declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) on February 4, 2020 (the “Registration Statement”). The joint proxy statement/prospectus (the “Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus”) included in the
Registration Statement contains additional information about the Merger.

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement and the Merger does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
Merger Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1.01.  Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

ABL Facility

On March 13, 2020 Cliffs entered into an asset-based revolving credit facility (the “ABL Facility”) with Bank of America N.A. (“BOFA”), as
administrative agent (in such capacity, “Administrative Agent”) and a lender, and various other financial institutions as lenders (the “Lenders”). The ABL Facility
replaces Cliffs’ existing $450.0 million Amended and Restated Syndicated Facility Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2018, among Cliffs, the subsidiaries of
Cliffs from time to time party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and BOFA, as administrative agent.

The ABL Facility will mature upon the earlier of March 13, 2025 or 91 days prior to the maturity of certain other material debt of Cliffs, and provides for
up to $2.0 billion in borrowings, including a $555.0 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit and a $125.0 million sublimit for swingline loans.
Availability under the ABL Facility is limited to an eligible borrowing base determined by applying customary advance rates to eligible accounts receivable,
inventory and certain mobile equipment.



The ABL Facility and certain bank products and hedge obligations are guaranteed by Cliffs and certain of its existing material wholly-owned domestic
subsidiaries and are required to be guaranteed by certain of Cliffs’ future material wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries. Amounts outstanding under the ABL
Facility and certain bank products and hedge obligations are secured by (i) a first-priority security interest in the accounts receivable and other rights to
payment, inventory, as-extracted collateral, certain investment property, certain general intangibles and commercial tort claims, certain mobile equipment,
commodities accounts, deposit accounts, securities accounts and other related assets of Cliffs and the guarantors, and proceeds and products of each of the
foregoing (collectively, the “ABL Collateral”), and (ii) a second-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of Cliffs and the other guarantors other
than the ABL Collateral (collectively, the “Notes Collateral” and, together with the ABL Collateral, the “Collateral”), in each case, subject to certain customary
exceptions.

Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest, at Cliffs’ option, at a base rate, or, if certain conditions are met, a LIBOR rate, in each case plus an
applicable margin. The base rate is equal to the greater of the federal funds rate plus ½ of 1%, the LIBOR rate based on a one-month interest period plus 1%,
the floating rate announced by BOFA as its “prime rate” and 1%; provided that, the LIBOR rate shall in no event be less than 0%. The LIBOR rate is a per
annum fixed rate equal to LIBOR with respect to the applicable interest period and amount of LIBOR rate loan requested.

The ABL Facility contains customary representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants including, among others, covenants
regarding the maintenance of certain financial ratios if certain conditions are triggered, covenants relating to financial reporting, covenants relating to the
payment of dividends on, or purchase or redemption of, Cliffs’ capital stock, covenants relating to the incurrence or prepayment of certain debt, covenants
relating to the incurrence of liens or encumbrances, compliance with laws, transactions with affiliates, mergers and sales of all or substantially all of Cliffs’
assets and limitations on changes in the nature of Cliffs’ business.

The ABL Facility provides for customary events of default, including, among other things, the event of nonpayment of principal, interest, fees, or other
amounts, a representation or warranty proving to have been materially incorrect when made, failure to perform or observe certain covenants within a specified
period of time, a cross-default to certain material indebtedness, the bankruptcy or insolvency of Cliffs and certain of its subsidiaries, monetary judgment
defaults of a specified amount, invalidity of any loan documentation, a change of control of Cliffs, and defaults under the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) resulting in liability of a specified amount. In the event of a default by Cliffs (beyond any applicable grace or cure period, if any),
the Administrative Agent may and, at the direction of the requisite number of Lenders, shall declare all amounts owing under the ABL Facility immediately due
and payable, terminate such Lenders’ commitments to make loans under the ABL Facility and/or exercise any and all remedies and other rights under the ABL
Facility. For certain defaults related to insolvency and receivership, the commitments of the Lenders will be automatically terminated and all outstanding loans
and other amounts will become immediately due and payable.

Secured Notes Indenture

On March 13, 2020, Cliffs entered into an indenture (the “Secured Notes Indenture”) among Cliffs, the guarantors party thereto (the “Guarantors”) and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and first lien notes collateral agent (the “Trustee”), relating to the issuance by Cliffs of $725 million aggregate
principal amount of 6.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the “Secured Notes”). The Secured Notes were sold in a private transaction exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Secured Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered
or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Secured Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.75% per annum. Interest on the Secured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and
September 15 of each year, commencing on September 15, 2020. The Secured Notes mature on March 15, 2026 and are secured senior obligations of Cliffs.

The Secured Notes are jointly and severally and fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior secured basis by all of Cliffs’ material domestic
subsidiaries (other than excluded subsidiaries) and will be secured (subject in each case to certain exceptions and permitted liens) by (i) a first-priority lien
(pari passu with Cliffs’ existing secured notes) on the Notes Collateral and (ii) a second-priority lien (junior to the ABL Facility) on the ABL Collateral.

The terms of the Secured Notes are governed by the Secured Notes Indenture. The Secured Notes Indenture contains customary covenants that,
among other things, limit Cliffs’ and its subsidiaries’ ability to create certain liens on property that secure indebtedness, use proceeds of dispositions of
collateral, enter into sale and leaseback



transactions, merge or consolidate with another company, and transfer or sell all or substantially all of Cliffs’ assets. Upon the occurrence of a “change of
control triggering event,” as defined in the Secured Notes Indenture, Cliffs is required to offer to repurchase the Secured Notes at 101% of the aggregate
principal amount thereof, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

Cliffs may redeem any of the Secured Notes beginning on March 15, 2022. The initial redemption price is 105.063% of their principal amount, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The redemption price will decline each year after March 15, 2022 and will be 100%
of their principal amount, plus accrued interest, beginning on March 15, 2025. Cliffs may also redeem some or all of the Secured Notes at any time and from
time to time prior to March 15, 2022 at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus a “make-whole” premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

In addition, at any time and from time to time on or prior to March 15, 2022, Cliffs may redeem in the aggregate up to 35% of the original aggregate
principal amount of the Secured Notes (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of additional Secured Notes) with the net cash proceeds of certain equity
offerings, at a redemption price of 106.750%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, so long as at least 65% of the
original aggregate principal amount of the Secured Notes (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of additional Secured Notes) issued under the
Secured Notes Indenture remain outstanding after each such redemption.

The Secured Notes Indenture contains customary events of default, including failure to make required payments, failure to comply with certain
agreements or covenants, failure to pay or acceleration of certain other indebtedness, certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency, and failure to pay certain
judgments. An event of default under the Secured Notes Indenture will allow either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of
the then-outstanding Secured Notes to accelerate, or in certain cases, will automatically cause the acceleration of, the amounts due under the Secured Notes.

Item 2.01.  Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

The information set forth in the Introductory Note of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.03.
 

Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Arrangement
of a Registrant.

The information set forth in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8‑K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 5.02.
 

Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain
Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement and effective as of the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), the Board of Directors of
Cliffs (the “Board”) increased the size of the Board from eleven to twelve members. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, (i) as of the Effective
Time, Michael D. Siegal and Joseph A. Rutkowski, Jr. each resigned as a member of the Board and (ii) effective immediately following such resignations,
William K. Gerber, Ralph S. Michael, III and Arlene M. Yocum were each appointed as a director of Cliffs. Additionally, at the Effective Time, Mr. Gerber was
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of the Board, Ms. Yocum was appointed as a member of the Strategy Committee of the Board and Mr. Michael
was appointed as the chairman of the Governance and Nominating Committee of the Board and a member of the Compensation and Organization Committee
of the Board. In addition to these Committee appointments, the following changes have been made to Committees of the Board: Robert P. Fisher, Jr. was
appointed as a member of the Governance and Nominating Committee of the Board, Gabriel Stoliar retired as a member of the Compensation and
Organization Committee of the Board and was appointed as a member of the Strategy Committee of the Board, and Susan M. Green retired as a member of
the Strategy Committee of the Board.



As non-employee directors, Messrs. Gerber and Michael and Ms. Yocum will, in general, receive pro-rata compensation under the same program that
currently applies to Cliffs’ other non-employee directors, which compensation Cliffs previously disclosed under the heading “Director Compensation” in its
most recent proxy statement filed with the SEC on March 9, 2020. Messrs. Gerber and Michael and Ms. Yocum will participate in Cliffs’ Amended and
Restated 2014 Nonemployee Directors’ Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) and, pursuant to the Plan, they will each receive restricted share awards and will be
entitled to quarterly retainer fees.

Cliffs also expects to enter into an indemnification agreement with each of Messrs. Gerber and Michael and Ms. Yocum in the same form as entered
into with other Cliffs’ directors (the “Indemnification Agreement”). The Indemnification Agreement provides that, to the extent permitted by Ohio law, Cliffs will
indemnify each of Messrs. Gerber and Michael and Ms. Yocum against all expenses, costs, liabilities and losses (including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines or
settlements) incurred or suffered by any of them in connection with any suit in which they are a party or otherwise involved as a result of their respective
service as a member of the Board. The foregoing discussion of the terms of the Indemnification Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full
text of the Indemnification Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8.01.  Other Events.

Tender Offers

On March 10, 2020, Cliffs and AK Steel issued a press release (the “Tender Offer Press Release”) announcing the early results of the previously
announced tender offers and consent solicitations (the “Tender Offers”) for the 7.625% Senior Notes due 2021 and 7.50% Senior Secured Notes due 2023
(collectively, the “AK Steel Notes”) issued by AK Steel Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of AK Steel. A copy of the Tender Offer Press Release is
attached as Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

On March 13, 2020, Cliffs accepted for payment and settled the Tender Offers with respect to all AK Steel Notes that were validly tendered and not
validly withdrawn at or prior to the early participation deadline. Cliffs no longer intends to cause AK Steel Corporation to issue notices of redemption to holders
of AK Steel Notes that remain outstanding following the expiration of the Tender Offers, if any, at this time.

This Current Report on Form 8-K does not constitute an offer to purchase, or a notice of redemption with respect to the AK Steel Notes or any other
securities.

Entry into Supplemental Indentures

On March 13, 2020, Cliffs, AK Steel, AK Steel Corporation and certain material direct and indirect, wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of AK Steel
Corporation (collectively, the “AK Steel Guarantors”) and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and, as applicable, first lien notes collateral agent,
entered into supplemental indentures (collectively, the “Supplemental Indentures”) to the indentures governing Cliffs’ outstanding 5.75% Senior Notes due
2025, 4.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2024 and 5.875% Senior Guaranteed Notes due 2027 (collectively, the “Outstanding Cliffs Notes”). Pursuant to the
Supplemental Indentures, the AK Steel Guarantors became guarantors under the indentures governing the Outstanding Cliffs Notes. In connection therewith,
the AK Steel Guarantors also granted security interests in favor of the first lien notes collateral agent under the indenture governing Cliffs’ outstanding 4.875%
Senior Secured Notes due 2024, on behalf of the holders thereof, to secure the obligations of Cliffs and the guarantors thereunder.

Item 9.01.  Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a)    Financial statements of business acquired.

The financial statements of AK Steel required to be filed under Item 9.01 are attached as Exhibit 99.3 hereto.

(b)     Pro forma financial information.



(d)

The pro forma financial information of Cliffs required to be filed under Item 9.01 of Form 8-K is included in Cliffs’ Current Report on Form 8-K (File No.
001-08944) as filed with the SEC on February 26, 2020.

Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number  Description
  
2.1

 

*Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 2, 2019, by and among Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.,
AK Steel Holding Corporation, and Pepper Merger Sub Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Cliffs' Form 8-K
filed on December 4, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1

 

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement between Cleveland-Cliffs Inc. and Directors
and Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Cliffs’ Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2019 and
incorporated herein by reference).

23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP relating to AK Steel Holding Corporation’s financial statements.
99.1  Merger Press Release
99.2  Tender Offer Press Release
99.3

 

Audited consolidated balance sheets of AK Steel Holding Corporation as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, and the related audited consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash
flows and stockholders’ equity (deficit) for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, together with the notes thereto and the reports of independent registered public
accounting firm thereon.

101
 

Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.

104  The cover page from this Current Report on Form 8-K, formatted as Inline XBRL.
* Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. Cliffs hereby undertakes to

furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit upon request by the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

6

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/764065/000076406519000201/a20191202-8xkxex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/764065/000076406519000072/clf-201933110xqex102.htm


SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

    

  CLEVELAND-CLIFFS INC.
    

Date: March 13, 2020 By: /s/ James D. Graham
  Name: James D. Graham

  
Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer &

Secretary



 

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement No. 333-235855 on Form S-4 (as amended by Amendment No. 1) pertaining to the joint proxy statement/prospectus filed by
AK Steel Holding Corporation and Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.,

(2) Registration Statement No. 033-56661 on Form S-8 (as amended by Post-Effective Amendment No.1) pertaining to the Northshore Mining Company
and Silver Bay Power Company Retirement Savings Plan and the related prospectus,

(3) Registration Statement No. 333-184620 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. 2012 Incentive Equity
Plan,

(4) Registration Statement No. 333-197687 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive Equity
Plan,

(5) Registration Statement No. 333-197688 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. 2014 Nonemployee Directors’ Compensation
Plan,

(6) Registration Statement No. 333-204369 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. 2015 Equity and Incentive Compensation
Plan,

(7) Registration Statement No. 333-206487 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. 2015 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan,

(8) Registration Statement No. 333-210954 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. Amended and Restated 2014 Nonemployee
Directors’ Compensation Plan,

(9) Registration Statement No. 333-217506 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. Amended and Restated 2015 Equity and
Incentive Compensation Plan, and

(10)Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-8 (Registration Statement No. 333-237144) to Registration Statement No. 333-235855 on Form S-4
pertaining to the Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. Amended and Restated 2015 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan;

of our reports dated February 20, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of AK Steel Holding Corporation and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of AK Steel Holding Corporation included in this Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.

/s/ Ernst &Young LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio
March 13, 2020



 

EXHIBIT 99.1

CLEVELAND-CLIFFS COMPLETES ACQUISITION OF AK STEEL

CLEVELAND - March 13, 2020 - Cleveland-Cliffs Inc. (NYSE: CLF) announced today that it has successfully completed the acquisition of AK Steel Holding

Corporation, integrating North America’s largest producer of iron ore pellets downstream into the production of value-added steel and specialty manufactured

parts for the automotive industry. The combined company will be led by Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Lourenco Goncalves.

“This is a new era for Cleveland-Cliffs as a producer of differentiated, high quality iron ore, metallics and steel in North America. The new Cliffs will begin from

a unique position of strength in our industry, with a dynamic combination of assets including two efficient integrated blast furnace steel mills, two electric arc

furnace plants, a new state-of-the-art HBI plant and several other highly technologically developed facilities. We will be catering to a desirable customer base

and primarily doing business in the United States, the most resilient manufacturing economy in the world,” said Mr. Goncalves. “I am honored to be leading a

Company that is built on such a rich history, and now combines mining, pelletizing, direct-reduction, EAF steelmaking, BF/BOF steelmaking, highly

technologically developed finishing mills and automated manufacturing of auto-parts.” Mr. Goncalves concluded: “I am also very pleased to welcome the AK

Steel employees and the unions representing the workforce throughout the country to the Cleveland-Cliffs family. From now on, we are a single, united and

very strong team.”

About Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.
Founded in 1847, Cleveland-Cliffs is among the largest vertically integrated producers of differentiated iron ore and steel in North America. With an emphasis
on non-commoditized products, Cliffs is uniquely positioned to supply both customized iron ore pellets and sophisticated steel solutions to a quality-focused
customer base, with an industry-leading market share in the automotive industry. In 2020, Cliffs also expects to be the sole producer of hot briquetted iron
(HBI) in the Great Lakes region. A commitment to environmental sustainability is core to our business operations and extends to how we partner with
stakeholders across our communities and the steel value chain. Headquartered in Cleveland, Ohio, Cleveland-Cliffs employs approximately 12,000 people
across mining and steel manufacturing operations in the United States, Canada and Mexico. For more information, visit http://www.clevelandcliffs.com

Source: Cleveland-Cliffs Inc.

MEDIA CONTACT:

Patricia Persico
Director, Corporate Communications
(216) 694-5316

INVESTOR CONTACT:

Paul Finan
Director, Investor Relations
(216) 694-6544

CLEVELAND-CLIFFS INC. 200 PUBLIC SQUARE SUITE 3300 CLEVELAND, OH 44114-2544
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EXHIBIT 99.3

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of AK Steel Holding Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AK Steel Holding Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) and our report dated February 20, 2020 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Adoption of ASU No. 2016-02

As discussed in the paragraph under the caption “Adoption of New Accounting Principles” described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
effective January 1, 2019, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02,
Leases (Topic 842).

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved
our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.         
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 Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets
Description of the Matter As more fully described in Note 6, at December 31, 2019, the Company had gross deferred tax assets on deductible

temporary differences and carryforwards of $833.9 million reduced by a valuation allowance of $659.4 million, both
primarily related to the U.S. Deferred tax assets must be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based upon the weight of all
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Auditing management’s analysis of the realizability of its U.S. deferred tax assets was complex and highly judgmental due
to the weighting of positive and negative evidence with respect to future reversals of taxable U.S. temporary differences
and future U.S. taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls relating to the
realizability of deferred tax assets. Our audit procedures included testing controls over management’s projections of future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and future taxable income (exclusive of reversing temporary differences
and carryforwards) and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by the Company.

To test the realizability of the Company’s deferred tax assets, we performed audit procedures which included, among
others, assessing the positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the U.S. deferred tax assets.
We tested the Company’s scheduling of the reversal of existing temporary taxable differences used as a source of taxable
income were of the appropriate character to realize existing deferred tax assets. We assessed the historical accuracy of
management’s forecasted U.S. taxable income, exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards, and
compared the forecasts to current industry and economic trends. We involved tax professionals to evaluate the application
of jurisdictional tax laws and regulations used in the Company’s assumptions and calculations.

 Precision Partners’ Reporting Unit Goodwill
Description of the Matter At December 31, 2019, goodwill was $255.5 million, and included $222.7 million related to the Precision Partners’ reporting

unit. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is reviewed for potential impairment at the
reporting unit level at least annually on October 1 and whenever events or circumstances make it more likely than not that
impairment may have occurred.

Auditing management’s annual goodwill impairment assessment for the Precision Partners’ reporting unit was complex
due to the significant estimation required to determine the fair value of the reporting unit. In particular, the fair value
estimate was sensitive to significant assumptions, such as revenue growth rates, the terminal growth rate, EBITDA margin,
and the weighted average cost of capital, which are affected by expectations about future market or economic conditions.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the
Company’s goodwill impairment review process. For example, we tested controls over management’s review of the
significant judgmental assumptions, including revenue growth rates, the terminal growth rate, EBITDA margin, and the
weighted average cost of capital.

To test the Company’s annual goodwill impairment assessment for the Precision Partners’ reporting unit, we performed
audit procedures that included, among others, evaluating the estimated fair value of the Precision Partners’ reporting unit,
including evaluating methodologies used. We involved our specialists in the evaluation of the significant assumptions
described above and testing the underlying data used by the Company in its analysis for completeness and accuracy. We
compared the significant assumptions used by management to current industry and economic trends, recent historical
performance and other factors. We assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates and performed sensitivity
analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting unit that would result from
changes in the assumptions.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
Cincinnati, Ohio
February 20, 2020
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AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

(dollars in millions, except per share data)
  2019  2018  2017
Net sales  $ 6,359.4  $ 6,818.2  $ 6,080.5
       

Cost of products sold (exclusive of items shown separately below)  5,606.3  5,911.0  5,253.1
Selling and administrative expenses  295.2  322.6  284.9
Depreciation  192.6  220.2  226.0
Ashland Works closure  56.0  —  —
Credit for adjustment of liability for transportation costs  —  —  (19.3)
Asset impairment charge  —  —  75.6
Total operating costs  6,150.1  6,453.8  5,820.3
Operating profit  209.3  364.4  260.2
Interest expense  146.6  151.6  152.3
Pension and OPEB (income) expense  12.0  (19.2)  (71.9)
Other (income) expense  (18.5)  (5.9)  17.1
Income before income taxes  69.2  237.9  162.7
Income tax expense (benefit)  6.2  (6.2)  (2.2)
Net income  63.0  244.1  164.9
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests  51.8  58.1  61.4
Net income attributable to AK Steel Holding Corporation  $ 11.2  $ 186.0  $ 103.5

Net income per share attributable to AK Steel Holding Corporation common stockholders:       
Basic  $ 0.04  $ 0.59  $ 0.33

Diluted  $ 0.04  $ 0.59  $ 0.32

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
(dollars in millions)

  2019  2018  2017
Net income  $ 63.0  $ 244.1  $ 164.9
Other comprehensive income, before tax:       
Foreign currency translation gain (loss)  (0.6)  (1.7)  4.7
Cash flow hedges:       
Gains (losses) arising in period  (31.5)  (5.6)  (11.5)
Reclassification of losses (gains) to net income  8.9  (10.3)  (6.1)
Pension and OPEB plans:       
Prior service credit (cost) arising in period  —  11.1  4.7
Gains (losses) arising in period  50.5  (63.6)  94.2
Reclassification of prior service cost (credits) included in net income  (9.6)  (9.8)  (53.8)
Reclassification of losses (gains) included in net income  15.7  29.3  6.3
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax  33.4  (50.6)  38.5
Income tax expense in other comprehensive income  1.4  —  —
Other comprehensive income (loss)  32.0  (50.6)  38.5
Comprehensive income  95.0  193.5  203.4
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests  51.8  58.1  61.4
Comprehensive income attributable to AK Steel Holding Corporation  $ 43.2  $ 135.4  $ 142.0

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2019 and 2018
(dollars in millions, except per share data)

  2019  2018
ASSETS     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 31.0  $ 48.6
Accounts receivable, net  577.9  635.8
Inventory  1,346.2  1,419.9
Other current assets  65.2  97.0

Total current assets  2,020.3  2,201.3
Property, plant and equipment  7,168.9  6,969.2

Accumulated depreciation  (5,237.0)  (5,057.6)
Property, plant and equipment, net  1,931.9  1,911.6

Other non-current assets:     
Goodwill and intangible assets  293.4  298.9
Other non-current assets  345.0  103.9

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 4,590.6  $ 4,515.7

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable  $ 705.1  $ 801.0
Accrued liabilities  314.4  288.9
Current portion of pension and other postretirement benefit obligations  41.0  38.7

Total current liabilities  1,060.5  1,128.6
Non-current liabilities:     

Long-term debt  1,968.8  1,993.7
Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations  717.8  829.9
Other non-current liabilities  366.2  134.0

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,113.3  4,086.2
Equity:     
Common stock, authorized 450,000,000 shares of $.01 par value each; issued 317,768,621 and 316,595,613
shares in 2019 and 2018; outstanding 316,401,478 and 315,535,765 shares in 2019 and 2018  3.2  3.2

Additional paid-in capital  2,904.2  2,894.9
Treasury stock, common shares at cost, 1,367,143 and 1,059,848 shares in 2019 and 2018  (7.3)  (6.4)
Accumulated deficit  (2,680.6)  (2,691.8)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (68.0)  (100.0)

Total stockholders’ equity  151.5  99.9
Noncontrolling interests  325.8  329.6

TOTAL EQUITY  477.3  429.5
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 4,590.6  $ 4,515.7
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The consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, include the following amounts for consolidated variable interest entities, before
intercompany eliminations. See Note 16 for more information concerning variable interest entities.

  2019  2018
Middletown Coke Company, LLC (“SunCoke Middletown”)     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 0.1  $ 1.1
Inventory  24.1  21.1
Property, plant and equipment  446.1  427.8
Accumulated depreciation  (127.7)  (106.9)
Accounts payable  19.2  13.7
Other assets (liabilities), net  1.5  (1.2)
Noncontrolling interests  324.9  328.2
     

Other variable interest entities     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 0.1  $ 0.5
Property, plant and equipment  11.7  11.7
Accumulated depreciation  (10.0)  (9.8)
Other assets (liabilities), net  0.1  0.5
Noncontrolling interests  0.9  1.4

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

(dollars in millions)
  2019  2018  2017
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net income  $ 63.0  $ 244.1  $ 164.9
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating activities:       
Depreciation  169.9  201.6  209.8
Depreciation—SunCoke Middletown  22.7  18.6  16.2
Amortization  32.7  32.0  24.1
Ashland Works closure  56.0  —  —
Asset impairment charge—Ashland Works Hot End  —  —  75.6
Credit for adjustment of liability for transportation costs  —  —  (19.3)
Deferred income taxes  (1.0)  (8.0)  (9.0)
Contributions to pension trust  (43.5)  (49.9)  (44.1)
Pension and OPEB (income) expense  17.8  (11.6)  (64.4)
(Gains) losses on retirement of debt  (0.8)  (2.0)  21.3
Mark-to-market (gains) losses on derivative contracts  (44.0)  (8.9)  (45.7)
Other operating items, net  (7.6)  2.4  20.1
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquired business:       
Accounts receivable  60.2  (125.0)  (34.4)
Inventory  73.7  (34.8)  (116.7)
Accounts payable and other current liabilities  (172.8)  119.6  46.2
Other assets  75.0  52.9  (6.5)
Other pension payments  (0.9)  (1.0)  (1.1)
OPEB payments  (26.8)  (35.6)  (39.6)
Other liabilities  (7.7)  (29.7)  1.4
Net cash flows from operating activities  265.9  364.7  198.8

Cash flows from investing activities:       
Capital investments  (180.8)  (150.1)  (149.6)
Capital investments—SunCoke Middletown  (14.0)  (1.9)  (2.9)
Investment in acquired business, net of cash acquired  —  —  (360.4)
Other investing items, net  6.6  0.1  4.2
Net cash flows from investing activities  (188.2)  (151.9)  (508.7)

Cash flows from financing activities:       
Net borrowings (repayments) under credit facility  115.0  (115.0)  450.0
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  —  —  680.0
Redemption of long-term debt  (152.3)  (12.6)  (848.4)
Debt issuance costs  —  —  (25.3)
SunCoke Middletown distributions to noncontrolling interest owners  (55.6)  (73.7)  (79.1)
Other financing items, net  (2.4)  (0.9)  (2.5)
Net cash flows from financing activities  (95.3)  (202.2)  174.7

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (17.6)  10.6  (135.2)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  48.6  38.0  173.2

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 31.0  $ 48.6  $ 38.0

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
(dollars in millions)

  2019  2018  2017
Common stock       
Balance at beginning of period  $ 3.2  $ 3.2  $ 3.1
Share-based compensation  —  —  0.1
Balance at end of period  3.2  3.2  3.2
Additional paid-in capital       
Balance at beginning of period  2,894.9  2,884.8  2,855.4
Share-based compensation  9.2  9.2  7.6
Stock options exercised  0.1  0.9  0.5
Exchangeable notes exchange feature  —  —  21.3
Balance at end of period  2,904.2  2,894.9  2,884.8
Treasury stock       
Balance at beginning of period  (6.4)  (5.4)  (2.4)
Purchase of treasury stock  (0.9)  (1.0)  (3.0)
Balance at end of period  (7.3)  (6.4)  (5.4)
Accumulated deficit       
Balance at beginning of period  (2,691.8)  (2,877.0)  (2,980.5)
Cumulative effect of adopting new hedging standard  —  (0.8)  —
Net income attributable to AK Steel Holding Corporation  11.2  186.0  103.5
Balance at end of period  (2,680.6)  (2,691.8)  (2,877.0)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss       
Balance at beginning of period  (100.0)  (50.2)  (88.7)
Cumulative effect of adopting new hedging standard  —  0.8  —
Change in accumulated other comprehensive loss  32.0  (50.6)  38.5
Balance at end of period  (68.0)  (100.0)  (50.2)
Noncontrolling interests       
Balance at beginning of period  329.6  345.2  362.9
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests  51.8  58.1  61.4
Net distributions to noncontrolling interests  (55.6)  (73.7)  (79.1)
Balance at end of period  325.8  329.6  345.2
Total equity  $ 477.3  $ 429.5  $ 300.6

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(dollars in millions, except per share amounts or as otherwise specifically noted)

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

     

Basis of Presentation—These financial statements consolidate the operations and accounts of AK Steel Holding Corporation (“AK Holding”), its wholly owned
subsidiary AK Steel Corporation (“AK Steel”), all subsidiaries in which AK Holding has a controlling interest, and two variable interest entities for which AK
Steel is the primary beneficiary. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to “we,” “us” and “our” refer to AK Holding and its subsidiaries. We also
operate Mexican and European trading companies that buy and sell steel and steel products and other materials. We manage operations on a consolidated,
integrated basis so that we can use the most appropriate equipment and facilities for the production of a product, regardless of product line. Therefore, we
conclude that we operate in a single business segment. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. We base these estimates on historical experience and information available to us
about current events and actions we may take in the future. Estimates and assumptions affect significant items that include the carrying value of long-lived
assets, including investments and goodwill; valuation allowances for receivables, inventories and deferred income tax assets; legal and environmental
liabilities; workers compensation and asbestos liabilities; share-based compensation; and assets and obligations of employee benefit plans. There can be no
assurance that actual results will not differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition—We generate our revenue through product sales, and shipping terms generally indicate when we have fulfilled our performance
obligations and passed control of products to our customer. Our revenue transactions consist of a single performance obligation to transfer promised goods.
We have contracts with a substantial portion of our customers. These contracts usually define the mechanism for determining the sales price, but the contracts
do not impose a specific quantity on either party. Quantities to be delivered to the customer are determined at a point near the date of delivery through
purchase orders or other written instructions we receive from the customer. Spot market sales are made through purchase orders or other written instructions.
We recognize revenue when we have fulfilled a performance obligation, which is typically when we have shipped products at the customer’s instructions. For
sales with shipping terms that transfer title and control at the destination point, we recognize revenue when the customer receives the goods and our
performance obligation is complete. For sales with shipping terms that transfer title and control at the shipping point with us bearing responsibility for freight
costs to the destination, we determine that we have fulfilled a single performance obligation and recognize revenue when we ship the goods. For our tooling
solutions, we record progress payments that we receive from a customer as accrued liabilities until we recognize the revenue when the customer provides
written acceptance that our performance obligation has been fulfilled.

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring product. We reduce the amount of revenue recognized
for estimated returns and other customer credits, such as discounts and volume rebates, based on the expected value to be realized. Payment terms are
consistent with terms standard to the markets we serve. Sales taxes collected from customers are excluded from revenues.

We recognize an allowance for credit loss at the time a receivable is recorded based on our estimate of expected credit losses and adjust this estimate over
the life of the receivable as needed. We evaluate the aggregation and risk characteristics of receivable pools and develop loss rates that reflect historical
collections, current forecasts of future economic conditions over the time horizon we are exposed to credit risk, and payment terms or conditions that may
materially affect future forecasts. We expect credit losses associated with major auto companies to be lower than other customer pools.

Cost of Products Sold—Cost of products sold consists primarily of raw materials, energy costs, supplies consumed in the manufacturing process,
manufacturing labor, contract labor and direct overhead expense necessary to manufacture the finished steel product, as well as distribution and warehousing
costs. Our share of the income
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(loss) of investments in associated companies accounted for under the equity method is included in costs of products sold since these operations are
integrated with our overall steelmaking operations.

Share-Based Compensation—Compensation costs for stock awards are recognized over their vesting period using the straight-line method. We estimate
stock award forfeitures expected to occur to determine the compensation cost we recognize each period.

Legal Fees—Legal fees associated with litigation and similar proceedings that are not expected to provide a benefit in future periods are expensed as
incurred. Legal fees associated with activities that are expected to provide a benefit in future periods, such as costs associated with the issuance of debt, are
capitalized as incurred.          
        
Income Taxes—Interest and penalties from uncertain tax positions are included in income tax expense.

Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have an original
maturity of three months or less.

Inventory—Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We measure the cost of inventories using the average cost method.

Property, Plant and Equipment— Plant and equipment are depreciated under the straight-line method over their estimated lives. Estimated lives are as follows:
land improvements over 20 years, leaseholds over the life of the related operating lease term, buildings over 40 years and machinery and equipment over two
to 20 years. The estimated weighted-average life of our machinery and equipment is 13 years at the end of 2019. Amortization expense for assets recorded
under finance leases is included in depreciation expense. Costs incurred to develop coal mines are capitalized when incurred. We use the units-of-production
method utilizing only proven and probable reserves in the depletion base to compute the depletion of coal reserves and mine development costs. We expense
costs for major maintenance activities at our operating facilities when the activities occur.

We review the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used and long-lived assets to be disposed of when events and circumstances warrant such a
review. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment has occurred and a loss is recognized based on the amount by which
the carrying value exceeds the fair value, less cost to dispose, for assets to be sold or abandoned. We determine fair value by using quoted market prices,
estimates based on prices of similar assets or anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with risk.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Goodwill relates to our AK Tube LLC (“AK Tube”) and PPHC Holdings, LLC (“Precision Partners”) businesses. Intangible
assets are recorded at cost, and those with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. We review goodwill for potential impairment at least
annually on October 1 each year and whenever events or circumstances make it more likely than not that impairment may have occurred. Considering
operating results and the estimated fair value of the businesses, the most recent annual goodwill impairment tests indicated that the fair value of each of our
business reporting units was in excess of its carrying value. No goodwill impairment was recorded as a result of the annual impairment tests in the past three
years.

Leases—We determine if an arrangement contains a lease at inception. We recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities associated with leases based on the
present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the later of the commencement date of the lease or January 1, 2019 (the
implementation date of Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842)). We use our incremental borrowing rate at the recognition date in
determining the present value of future payments for leases that do not have a readily determinable implicit rate. Lease terms reflect options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. For leases that include residual value guarantees or payments for
terminating the lease, we include these costs in the lease liability when it is probable that we will incur them. Right-of-use assets and obligations for short-term
leases (leases with an initial term of 12 months or less) are not recognized in the consolidated balance sheet. Lease expense for short-term leases is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We have agreements that contain lease and non-lease components. In assessing whether an
agreement includes a lease component, we consider the nature of the assets included under the agreement and our right to direct their use. We allocate the
costs of the agreement to the separate components based on the relative standalone prices of the components. Where observable standalone prices are not
readily available, we estimate the standalone price based on the most observable information available. For leases of real estate and certain light equipment,
such as
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vehicles and mobile equipment, and for certain contracts that contain assets, such as production support, natural gas, electricity and industrial gas
agreements, we account for the lease and non-lease components in the contracts as a single lease component.

Investments—Investments in associated companies are accounted for under the equity method. We review an investment for impairment when circumstances
indicate that a loss in value below its carrying amount is other than temporary.

Debt Issuance Costs—Debt issuance costs for the revolving credit facility are included in other non-current assets and all other debt issuance costs reduce
the carrying amount of long-term debt.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits—We recognize into income, as of a measurement date, any unrecognized actuarial net gains or losses that
exceed 10% of the larger of the projected benefit obligations or the plan assets, defined as the “corridor.” Amounts inside the corridor are amortized over the
plan participants’ life expectancy. We determine the expected return on assets using the fair value of plan assets.
          
Concentrations of Credit Risk—We are primarily a producer of carbon, stainless and electrical steels and steel products, which are sold to a number of
markets, including automotive, infrastructure and manufacturing, and distributors and converters. We had two customers that accounted for 11% and 11% of
net sales in 2019, two customers that accounted for 11% and 10% of net sales in 2018, and one customer that accounted for 12% of net sales in 2017.
Approximately 62% and 52% of accounts receivable outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018, are due from businesses associated with the U.S.
automotive industry, including 15% of receivables due from one automotive customer as of December 31, 2019, and 13% due from one automotive customer
as of December 31, 2018.

Labor Agreements—At December 31, 2019, we employed approximately 9,300 people, of which approximately 5,600 are represented by labor unions under
various agreements that expire between 2020 and 2023. In April 2019, we and the United Steelworkers, Local 1865, which represents production employees
at Ashland Works, reached an agreement to revise and extend the collective bargaining agreement. The new agreement includes terms governing the
permanent closure of the facility, including benefits to employees who are terminated or transition to other AK Steel plants. In May 2019, members of the
United Steelworkers, Local 1190, ratified a three-year labor agreement covering approximately 220 production employees at Mountain State Carbon, LLC.
The new agreement will be in effect through April 30, 2022. In May 2019, members of the United Auto Workers, Local 4104, which governs approximately 100
production employees at Zanesville Works, ratified a new three-year labor agreement. The new agreement will be in effect through May 31, 2022. In July
2019, members of the United Auto Workers, Local 3303, which governs approximately 1,100 production and maintenance employees at Butler Works, ratified
a new three-year agreement. The new agreement will be in effect through June 15, 2022. In September 2019, members of the United Auto Workers, Local
3462, which governs approximately 310 production employees at Coshocton Works, ratified a new agreement. The new agreement will be in effect through
July 31, 2023. Other agreements that expire within the next twelve months include an agreement with the International Association of Machinists and
Aerospace Workers, Local 1943, which governs approximately 1,750 production employees at Middletown Works, scheduled to expire March 15, 2020, and an
agreement with United Steelworkers, Local 1915, which governs approximately 100 production employees at AK Tube’s Walbridge plant, scheduled to expire
January 22, 2021.

Financial Instruments—We are a party to derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedges for accounting purposes. We may also use
derivative instruments to which we do not apply hedge accounting treatment. Our objective in using these instruments is to limit operating cash flow exposure
to fluctuations in the fair value of selected commodities and currencies.

Fluctuations in the price of certain commodities we use in production processes may affect our income and cash flows. We have implemented raw material
and energy surcharges for some contract customers. For certain commodities where such exposure exists, we may use cash-settled commodity price swaps,
collars and purchase options, with a duration of up to two years, to hedge the price of a portion of our natural gas, iron ore, electricity, zinc and nickel
requirements. We may designate some of these instruments as cash flow hedges and changes in their fair value and settlements are recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive income. We subsequently reclassify gains and losses from accumulated other comprehensive income to cost of products sold in the
same period we recognize the earnings associated with the underlying transaction. The change in fair value for other instruments is immediately recorded in
cost of products sold with the offset recorded as assets or liabilities.
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Exchange rate fluctuations affect a portion of revenues and operating costs that are denominated in foreign currencies, and we use currency forwards and
options to reduce our exposure to these currency price fluctuations. These derivative contracts have durations up to three years. Contracts that sell euros have
not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes and gains or losses are reported in earnings immediately in other income (expense). Contracts that
purchase Canadian dollars are designated as hedges for accounting purposes, which requires us to record the gains and losses for the derivatives in
accumulated other comprehensive income and reclassify them into cost of products sold in the same period we recognize costs for the associated underlying
operations.

We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking
various hedge transactions. In this documentation, we specifically identify the asset, liability, firm commitment or forecasted transaction that has been
designated as a hedged item, and state how the hedging instrument is expected to hedge the risks from that item. We formally measure effectiveness of
hedging relationships both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis. We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when we determine that the
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of a hedged item; when the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised; when it is probable that the forecasted transaction will not occur; when a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm
commitment; or when we determine that designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. Our derivative contracts may contain
collateral funding requirements. We have master netting arrangements with counterparties, giving us the right to offset amounts owed under the derivative
instruments and the collateral. We do not offset derivative assets and liabilities or collateral on our consolidated balance sheets. Cash flows associated with
purchasing and settling derivative contracts are classified as operating cash flows.

Asbestos and Environmental Accruals—For a number of years, we have been remediating sites where hazardous materials may have been released,
including sites no longer owned by us. In addition, a number of lawsuits alleging asbestos exposure have been filed and continue to be filed against us. We
have established accruals for estimated probable costs from asbestos claim settlements and environmental investigation, monitoring and remediation. If the
accruals are not adequate to meet future claims, operating results and cash flows may be negatively affected. Our accruals do not consider the potential for
insurance recoveries. We have partial insurance coverage for some future asbestos claims. In addition, some existing insurance policies covering asbestos
and environmental contingencies may serve to partially reduce future covered expenditures.

Adoption of New Accounting Principles—We adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as subsequently amended, as of
January 1, 2019 through the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2019. Topic 842 requires
entities to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and disclose key information about leasing arrangements for certain leases. Results for reporting
periods beginning after January 1, 2019 are presented under Topic 842, while prior period amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in
accordance with our historical accounting treatment. We elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new
standard, which among other things, allowed us to carry forward the historical lease classification. We also elected the practical expedient related to land
easements, allowing us to carry forward our accounting treatment for land easements on existing agreements. Adoption of the new standard resulted in
recording additional lease assets and liabilities of $291.1 as of January 1, 2019. The adoption of the standard did not materially impact our consolidated net
earnings or cash flows.

We adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments, as subsequently amended, as of December 31, 2019. The standard requires entities to recognize credit losses at the time financial assets,
including receivables, are recorded by estimating lifetime expected credit losses. The effect of adoption of the new guidance was not material to our
consolidated financial statements.

 
NOTE 2 - Proposed Cleveland-Cliffs Acquisition

     

On December 2, 2019, we entered into an Agreement of Plan of Merger (as it may be amended from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”) among us,
Cleveland-Cliffs Inc. (“Cliffs”) and Pepper Merger Sub Inc., a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Cliffs (“Merger Sub”) pursuant to which, subject to the
satisfaction or (to the extent permissible)
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waiver of the conditions set forth therein, Cliffs will acquire AK Holding by way of the merger of Merger Sub with and into AK Holding (the “Merger”), with AK
Holding surviving such Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Cliffs. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger, AK
Holding stockholders will become entitled to receive 0.40 Cliffs common shares for each outstanding share of AK Holding common stock they own at the
effective time. Upon completion of the proposed Merger, it is expected that, AK Holding stockholders will own approximately 32% of the combined company
and Cliffs shareholders will own approximately 68% of the combined company on a fully diluted basis. We expect to complete the Merger in the first quarter of
2020, subject to the receipt of customary regulatory and stockholder approvals and the satisfaction or (to the extent permissible) waiver of the other closing
conditions under the Merger Agreement.

On January 14, 2020, Cliffs commenced consent solicitations and offers to exchange any and all outstanding 6.375% Senior Notes due 2025 (“2025 Notes”)
and 7.00% Senior Notes due 2027 (“2027 Notes”) issued by AK Steel for the same aggregate principal amount of new notes to be issued by Cliffs, subject to
completion of the Merger and the satisfaction of certain other conditions. On January 28, 2020, we received the requisite consents to adopt the proposed
amendments to amend the respective indentures governing the 2025 Notes (“2025 Notes Indenture”) and the 2027 Notes (“2027 Notes Indenture”). Those
amendments deleted certain covenants from the indentures, as set forth in a Form 8-K that we filed with the SEC on January 29, 2020. On January 29, 2020,
we and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”) entered into the Ninth Supplemental Indenture with respect to the 2027 Notes Indenture (the
“Ninth Supplemental Indenture”) and the Tenth Supplemental Indenture with respect to the 2025 Notes Indenture (the “Tenth Supplemental Indenture” and,
together with the Ninth Supplemental Indenture, the “Supplemental Indentures”) giving effect to the proposed amendments. The Supplemental Indentures will
become operative as to the 2025 Notes and 2027 Notes only upon completion of the Merger and the satisfaction of certain other conditions.        

 
NOTE 3 - Supplementary Financial Statement Information

     

Revenue

Net sales by market are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Automotive  $ 4,172.2  $ 4,284.7  $ 3,951.5
Infrastructure and Manufacturing  1,006.0  1,049.1  948.0
Distributors and Converters  1,181.2  1,484.4  1,181.0
Total  $ 6,359.4  $ 6,818.2  $ 6,080.5

Net sales by product line are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Carbon steel  $ 4,143.6  $ 4,409.1  $ 4,034.5
Stainless and electrical steel  1,617.5  1,793.8  1,687.6
Tubular products, components and other  598.3  615.3  358.4
Total  $ 6,359.4  $ 6,818.2  $ 6,080.5

We sell domestically to customers located primarily in the Midwestern and Eastern United States and to foreign customers located primarily in Canada, Mexico
and Western Europe. Net sales to customers located outside the United States totaled $569.4, $634.8 and $627.1 for 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Research and Development Costs

We conduct a broad range of research and development activities aimed at improving existing products and manufacturing processes and developing new
products and processes. Research and development costs, which are recorded as selling and administrative expenses when incurred, totaled $30.7, $29.4
and $28.1 in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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Allowance for Credit Losses

Changes in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Balance at beginning of year  $ 6.6  $ 6.8  $ 7.8
Increase (decrease) in allowance  (1.6)  0.3  (1.0)
Receivables written off  (0.7)  (0.5)  —
Balance at end of year  $ 4.3  $ 6.6  $ 6.8

Inventory

Inventories as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, consist of:

  2019  2018
Finished and semi-finished  $ 971.4  $ 1,054.4
Raw materials  374.8  365.5
Inventory  $ 1,346.2  $ 1,419.9
        
        
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, consist of:

  2019  2018
Land, land improvements and leaseholds  $ 271.2  $ 272.1
Buildings  514.8  509.7
Machinery and equipment  6,213.6  6,061.6
Construction in progress  169.3  125.8
Total  7,168.9  6,969.2
Less accumulated depreciation  (5,237.0)  (5,057.6)
Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 1,931.9  $ 1,911.6

Interest on capital projects capitalized in 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $3.1, $1.6 and $1.9. Asset retirement obligations were $10.6 and $8.5 at December 31,
2019 and 2018.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Balance at beginning of year  $ 255.0  $ 253.8  $ 32.8
Acquisition  0.5  1.2  221.0
Balance at end of year  $ 255.5  $ 255.0  $ 253.8

At December 31, 2019, goodwill consisted of $222.7 related to our Precision Partners business and $32.8 related to our AK Tube business.
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Intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018, consist of:

  Gross Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  Net Amount

As of December 31, 2019       
Customer relationships  $ 36.6  $ (12.5)  $ 24.1
Technology  23.0  (9.2 )  13.8
Intangible assets  $ 59.6  $ (21.7)  $ 37.9

       
As of December 31, 2018       
Customer relationships  $ 36.6  $ (7.4)  $ 29.2
Technology  19.3  (4.6 )  14.7
Intangible assets  $ 55.9  $ (12.0)  $ 43.9

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $9.7, $9.0 and $4.0 in 2019, 2018 and 2017. Amortization expense is included in costs of products sold.
The remaining average life of our intangible assets is 4.6 years for customer relationships and 3.6 years for technology. Estimated annual amortization
expense for intangible assets over the next five years is $10.6 for 2020, $8.4 for 2021, $8.4 for 2022, $7.1 for 2023 and $3.4 in 2024.

Other Non-current Assets

Other non-current assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, consist of:

  2019  2018
Operating lease assets  $ 244.5  $ —
Investments in affiliates  79.5  80.5
Other  21.0  23.4
Other non-current assets  $ 345.0  $ 103.9

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, consist of:

  2019  2018
Salaries, wages and benefits  $ 83.0  $ 127.8
Current portion of operating lease liabilities  49.6  —
Interest  33.8  34.8
Other  148.0  126.3
Accrued liabilities  $ 314.4  $ 288.9

Ashland Works Closure

In January 2019, our Board of Directors approved and we announced the planned closure of our Ashland Works, including the previously idled blast furnace
and steelmaking operations (“Ashland Works Hot End”) and the hot dip galvanizing coating line that had continued to operate. Factors that influenced our
decision to close Ashland Works included an uncertain global trade landscape influenced by shifting domestic and international political priorities, Ashland
Works’ high cost of production, and continued intense competition from domestic and foreign steel competitors. These conditions directly impacted our pricing,
which in turn directly impacted our assessment of the demand forecasts for the markets we serve. Despite several favorable trade actions, carbon steel
imports remained at a high level, driven by global overcapacity, particularly in China. We expected global overcapacity to be exacerbated by several domestic
steel companies that had restarted or planned new capacity additions in the United States. In addition, we concluded that we had sufficient coating capacity to
meet our customers’ needs without using our coating operations at Ashland Works. We transitioned products to our other, lower cost coating lines in the U.S.
and closed the Ashland Works coating line in November 2019.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a charge of $69.3, which included $18.5 for termination of take-or-pay supply agreements, $20.1 for
supplemental unemployment and other employee benefit costs, pension and other postretirement benefit (“OPEB”) termination benefits of $13.3 (recorded in
pension and OPEB (income) expense), an estimated multiemployer plan withdrawal liability of $10.0, and $7.4 for other costs. The supplemental
unemployment and other employee benefit costs are expected to be paid primarily in 2020 and 2021. The actual multiemployer plan withdrawal liability will not
be known until a future date and is expected to be paid over a number of years. Ongoing costs to maintain the equipment and utilities and meet supplier
obligations related to the idled Ashland Works Hot End were $12.6, $20.0 and $21.2 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. These cash
costs related to closing the facility will decline in future years. We recorded $4.0 of accelerated depreciation related to the coating line fixed assets for the year
ended December 31, 2019 to fully depreciate them.

The supplemental unemployment and other employee benefit costs were recorded as accrued and other non-current liabilities, and the activity for the year
ended December 31, 2019, was as follows:

 

  

 2019
Charge for supplemental unemployment and other employee benefit costs $ 20.1
Payments (1.0)
Balance at end of year $ 19.1

In the fourth quarter of 2015, we temporarily idled the Ashland Works Hot End. We incurred charges in the fourth quarter of 2015 for supplemental
unemployment and other employee benefit costs that were recorded as accrued liabilities, and the activity for the years ended December 31, 2018, and 2017
was as follows:

  2018  2017
Balance at beginning of year  $ 1.5  $ 6.2
Payments  (1.5)  (5.3)
Additions to the reserve  —  0.6
Balance at end of year  $ —  $ 1.5

During 2017, we recognized a non-cash asset impairment charge of $75.6, primarily related to the long-lived assets associated with the Ashland Works Hot
End.

 
NOTE 4 - Acquisition of Precision

     

In August 2017, we acquired Precision Partners, which provides advanced-engineered solutions, tool design and build, hot- and cold-stamped steel
components and complex assemblies for the automotive market. Precision Partners is headquartered in Ontario, Canada, and operates ten plants in Ontario,
Alabama and Kentucky. We acquired Precision Partners to advance our core focus on the high-growth automotive lightweighting market and our prominent
position in advanced high strength steels, further strengthen our close collaboration with automotive market customers, and leverage both companies’
research and innovation in metals forming. The consolidated financial statements reflect the effects of the acquisition and Precision Partner’s financial results
subsequent to the acquisition. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we incurred acquisition costs of $6.2, primarily for transaction fees and direct costs,
including legal, finance, consulting and other professional fees. These costs are included in selling and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations.
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NOTE 5 - Investments in Affiliates

     

We have investments in several businesses accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Investees and equity ownership percentages are presented
below:

 

   

  Equity Ownership %
Combined Metals of Chicago, LLC  40%
Delaco Processing, LLC  49%
Rockport Roll Shop LLC  50%
Spartan Steel Coating, LLC  48%

Cost of products sold includes $5.1, $6.6 and $7.0 in 2019, 2018 and 2017 for our share of income of equity investees. As of December 31, 2019, our carrying
cost of our investment in Spartan Steel exceeded our share of the underlying equity in net assets by $7.7. This difference is being amortized and the
amortization expense is included in cost of products sold.

Summarized financial statement data for all investees is presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Revenue  $ 330.2  $ 329.8  $ 292.7
Gross profit  94.6  91.0  88.9
Net income (loss)  15.5  19.4  20.7

  2019  2018
Current assets  $ 114.2  $ 123.6
Noncurrent assets  80.3  74.4
Current liabilities  18.8  16.9
Noncurrent liabilities  96.1  54.2
    

We regularly transact business with these equity investees. Transactions with all equity investees for the years indicated are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Sales to equity investees  $ 67.6  $ 104.4  $ 80.6
Purchases from equity investees  42.3  31.2  33.0

Outstanding receivables and payables with all equity investees as of the end of the year indicated are presented below:

  2019  2018
Accounts receivable from equity investees  $ 1.5  $ 1.9
Accounts payable to equity investees  3.9  6.4

In 2016, we terminated our iron ore pellet offtake agreement with Magnetation LLC, ceased purchasing iron ore pellets from them, and recorded a liability for
obligations under contracts with other third parties to transport pellets to our facilities. In 2017, we recorded a credit of $19.3 to reduce the liability when we
reached an agreement for transportation services to begin using rail cars that we idled after the termination of the pellet supply agreement.
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NOTE 6 - Income Taxes

     

We and our subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return that includes all domestic companies owned 80% or more by us and the proportionate
share of our interest in equity method investments. State tax returns are filed on a consolidated, combined or separate basis depending on the applicable laws
relating to us and our domestic subsidiaries.

Components of income (loss) before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
United States  $ (9.3)  $ 168.3  $ 91.6
Foreign  26.7  11.5  9.7
Noncontrolling interests  51.8  58.1  61.4
Income before income taxes  $ 69.2  $ 237.9  $ 162.7

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are presented below:

  2019  2018
Deferred tax assets:     
Net operating and capital loss and tax credit carryforwards  $ 496.2  $ 516.7
Postretirement benefits  87.9  81.8
Pension benefits  84.2  114.1
Leases  63.3  —
Inventories  23.4  38.5
Other assets  78.9  65.1
Valuation allowance  (659.4)  (693.5)
Total deferred tax assets  174.5  122.7
Deferred tax liabilities:     
Depreciable assets  (106.3)  (108.3)
Leases  (60.0)  —
Other liabilities  (27.9)  (33.4)
Total deferred tax liabilities  (194.2)  (141.7)
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ (19.7)  $ (19.0)

We regularly evaluate the need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets by assessing whether it is more likely than not that we will realize future
deferred tax assets. We assess the valuation allowance each reporting period and reflect any additions or adjustments in earnings in the same period. At
December 31, 2019, we considered the existence of recent cumulative income from U.S. operations as a source of positive evidence. We have generated
losses from U.S. operations for several of our recent periods through 2016 and for   

2019 and accordingly have generated significant cumulative losses in those periods, which is a significant source of objective negative evidence. Despite the
recent income reported in 2017 and 2018 from U.S. operations, the following forms of negative evidence concerning our ability to realize our domestic
deferred tax assets were considered:

    
• we have historical evidence that the steel industry we operate within has business cycles of longer than a few years and therefore attribute

significant weight to our cumulative losses over longer business cycles in evaluating our ability to generate future taxable income;
• the global steel industry has been experiencing global overcapacity and periods of increased foreign steel imports into the U.S., which have

created volatile economic conditions and uncertainty relative to predictions of future income;
• while we have changed our business model to de-emphasize sales of commodity products and believe that this model will generate improved

financial results throughout an industry cycle, we have not
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experienced all parts of the cycle since we made these changes and therefore we do not know what results our business model will produce in all
circumstances;

• our U.S. operations have generated significant losses in prior years and the competitive landscape in the steel industry reflects shifting domestic
and international political priorities, an uncertain global trade landscape, and continued intense competition from domestic and foreign steel
competitors, all of which present significant uncertainty regarding our ability to routinely generate U.S. income in the near term;

• there has been significant recent volatility in spot market selling prices for carbon and stainless steel; and
• a substantial portion of our U.S. deferred tax assets consists of tax carryforwards with expiration dates that may prevent us from using them prior

to expiration.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we concluded that the negative evidence outweighed the positive evidence and we maintained a valuation allowance for
our net deferred tax assets in the U.S. To determine the appropriate valuation allowance, we considered the timing of future reversal of our taxable temporary
differences that supports realizing a portion of our federal and state deferred tax assets. This accounting treatment has no effect on our ability to use the loss
carryforwards and tax credits to reduce future cash tax payments.

Changes in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Balance at beginning of year  $ 693.5  $ 735.7  $ 1,189.7
Change in valuation allowance:       

Included in income tax expense (benefit)  (26.2)  (52.8)  (62.3)
Change in deferred assets in other comprehensive income  (7.9)  10.6  8.5
Effect of tax rate changes  —  —  (400.2)

Balance at end of year  $ 659.4  $ 693.5  $ 735.7

At December 31, 2019, we had $2,081.6 in federal regular net operating loss carryforwards, which will expire between 2030 and 2037. Our net operating loss
carryovers were generated in years prior to 2018, retain the original 20-year carryover periods, and can be used to offset future taxable income without
limitation. At December 31, 2019, we had research and development (“R&D”) credit carryforwards of $1.2 that we may use to offset future income tax
liabilities. The R&D credits expire between 2027 and 2028. At December 31, 2019, we had $76.3 in deferred tax assets for state net operating loss
carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards, before considering valuation allowances, which will expire between 2020 and 2039.

Significant components of income tax expense (benefit) are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Current:       
Federal  $ 0.2  $ (0.5)  $ (4.5)
State  (0.1)  (0.3)  0.3
Foreign  5.1  2.1  2.4
Deferred:       
Federal  (0.1)  (5.3)  0.7
State  —  —  0.1
Foreign  2.5  (2.2)  (0.4)
Amount allocated to other comprehensive income  (1.4)  —  —
Change in valuation allowance on beginning-of-the-year deferred tax assets  —  —  (0.8)
Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 6.2  $ (6.2)  $ (2.2)

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), signed into law on December 22, 2017, reduced the corporate income tax rate to 21% beginning in 2018,
among other provisions. We recognized the effects of changes in tax rates and laws on deferred tax balances in 2017, the period in which the legislation was
enacted. At December 31, 2017, we remeasured our deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rate at which they are expected to reverse
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in the future, which is generally 21% at the U.S. federal level. As a result, our income tax expense for the fourth quarter of 2017 included a non-cash credit of
$4.3 for the decrease in the value of our net deferred tax liabilities.

The Tax Act also introduced a one-time transition tax on the cumulative undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017. As a
result, our taxable income for 2017 included $24.3 as our gross transition tax obligation. We did not incur a cash tax liability for the transition tax due to the
availability of existing net operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2019 we had $11.4 of accumulated undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries
that has not been subject to U.S. income tax as they are considered indefinitely reinvested. Substantially all of the earnings as of December 31, 2017 were
subject to U.S. taxation as a result of the transition tax inclusion provided for by the Tax Act. The Tax Act also establishes a broad exemption from U.S.
taxation for dividends paid from our foreign affiliates after 2017. Consequently, there will generally be no incremental U.S. taxable income generated if we
repatriate these foreign earnings in the future. However, foreign withholding taxes on dividend distributions could apply, unless they are eliminated by a treaty
between the United States and the country where our foreign affiliate is located. Since we consider these earnings to be permanently invested in our foreign
subsidiaries, we did not record any withholding taxes that would be assessed if the earnings were repatriated by payment of a dividend. If we repatriated the
earnings, we estimate that the withholding tax liability would not be material at December 31, 2019.

Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 established a one-year period from the date of enactment in which to account for the impact of the Tax Act. During 2018, we
reduced our valuation allowance and recorded an income tax benefit of $5.3 as a result of changes to the tax net operating carryover rules included in the Tax
Act that allow us to use certain indefinite-lived deferred tax liabilities as a source of future income to realize deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2018, we
had accounted for the material aspects of the Tax Act.

The reconciliation of income tax on income before income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rates to actual income tax expense is presented
below:

  2019  2018  2017
Income tax expense at U.S. federal statutory rate  $ 14.5  $ 50.0  $ 57.2
Income tax expense calculated on noncontrolling interests  (10.9)  (12.2)  (21.5)
State and foreign tax expense, net of federal tax  12.9  (2.3)  6.3
Increase (decrease) in deferred tax asset valuation allowance  (26.2)  (52.8)  (51.8)
Amount allocated to other comprehensive income  (1.4)  —  —
Remeasurement of deferred taxes for U.S. tax legislation  —  —  (4.3)
Transition tax on foreign earnings  —  —  7.9
Non-deductible compensation  4.7  8.1  —
Other permanent differences  7.3  2.3  2.4
Other differences  5.3  0.7  1.6
Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 6.2  $ (6.2)  $ (2.2)

Our federal, state and local tax returns are subject to examination by various taxing authorities. Federal returns and most state returns for periods beginning in
2016 are open for examination, while certain state and local returns are open for examination for periods beginning in 2015. However, taxing authorities have
the ability to adjust net operating loss carryforwards generated in years before these periods. We have not recognized certain tax benefits because of the
uncertainty of realizing the entire value of the tax position taken on income tax returns until taxing authorities review them. We have established appropriate
income tax accruals, and believe that the outcomes of future federal examinations, as well as ongoing and future state and local examinations, will not have a
material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. When statutes of limitations expire or taxing authorities resolve uncertain
tax positions, we will adjust income tax expense for the unrecognized tax benefits. We have no tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total
amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change within twelve months of December 31, 2019.
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A reconciliation of the change in unrecognized tax benefits for 2019, 2018 and 2017 is presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Balance at beginning of year  $ 87.2  $ 89.4  $ 124.2
Decreases for prior year tax positions  (12.2)  (2.2)  (0.5)
Increases (decreases) for current year tax positions  0.3  —  0.3
Increases (decreases) related to tax rate changes (a)  —  —  (34.6)
Balance at end of year  $ 75.3  $ 87.2  $ 89.4

       
(a) As a result of the Tax Act, the value of unrecognized tax benefits associated with net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary differences was reduced to
reflect the lower tax rates that will apply if the uncertainties related to these deferred tax assets materialize in the future.

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 and 2018, are $72.3 and $72.8 of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the
effective tax rate. Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 and 2018, are $3.0 and $14.5 of tax benefits that, if
recognized, would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily deferred taxes.

 
NOTE 7 - Long-term Debt and Other Financing

     

Debt balances at December 31, 2019 and 2018, are presented below:

  2019  2018
Credit Facility  $ 450.0  $ 335.0
7.50% Senior Secured Notes due July 2023 (effective rate of 8.3%)  380.0  380.0
7.625% Senior Notes due October 2021  406.2  406.2
6.375% Senior Notes due October 2025 (effective rate of 7.1%)  270.2  274.8
7.00% Senior Notes due March 2027  391.6  391.6
Industrial Revenue Bonds due 2020 through 2028  99.3  99.3
5.00% Exchangeable Senior Notes due November 2019 (effective rate of 10.8%)  —  148.5
Unamortized debt discount and issuance costs  (28.5)  (41.7)
Total long-term debt  $ 1,968.8  $ 1,993.7

During 2019, we were in compliance with all the terms and conditions of our debt agreements.

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five years, at December 31, 2019, are presented below:

 

   

Year  Debt Maturities
2020 (a) $ 7.3
2021  406.2
2022  450.0
2023  380.0
2024  62.0
   
(a) Amounts maturing in 2020 are classified as long-term based on our ability and intent to refinance on a long-term basis.

Credit Facility

We have a $1,500.0 revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) that expires in September 2022 and is guaranteed by AK Steel’s parent company, AK
Holding, and by AK Tube, AK Steel Properties, Inc. and Mountain State Carbon LLC, three 100%-owned subsidiaries of AK Steel (referred to together as the
“Subsidiary Guarantors”). The Credit Facility contains customary restrictions, including limitations on, among other things, distributions and dividends,
acquisitions and investments, dispositions, indebtedness, liens and affiliate transactions. The Credit Facility
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requires that we maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of one to one if availability under the Credit Facility is less than $150.0. The Credit Facility’s
current availability significantly exceeds $150.0. Availability is calculated as the lesser of the Credit Facility commitments or eligible collateral after advance
rates, less outstanding revolver borrowings and letters of credit. We secure our Credit Facility obligations with our inventory and accounts receivable, and the
Credit Facility’s availability fluctuates monthly based on the varying levels of eligible collateral. We do not expect any of these restrictions to affect or limit our
ability to conduct business in the ordinary course. The Credit Facility includes a “first-in, last-out” or “FILO” tranche, which allows us to use a portion of our
eligible collateral at higher advance rates.

At December 31, 2019, our aggregate borrowing base, after application of applicable advance rates, was $1,327.1. As of December 31, 2019, we had $450.0
in outstanding borrowings. Availability as of December 31, 2019 was further reduced by $72.5 for outstanding letters of credit, resulting in remaining
availability of $804.6. The weighted-average interest rate on the outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2019 was 3.32%.

Senior Secured Notes
 
AK Steel has outstanding 7.50% Senior Secured Notes due July 2023 (the “Secured Notes”). The Secured Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by
AK Holding and the Subsidiary Guarantors. The Secured Notes are secured by first priority liens on the plant, property and equipment (other than certain
excluded property, and subject to permitted liens) of AK Steel and the Subsidiary Guarantors and any proceeds from them. The book value of the collateral as
of December 31, 2019 was approximately $1.4 billion. The indenture governing the Secured Notes includes covenants with customary restrictions on (a) the
incurrence of additional debt by certain subsidiaries, (b) the incurrence of certain liens, (c) the incurrence of sale/leaseback transactions, (d) the use of
proceeds from the sale of collateral, and (e) our ability to merge or consolidate with other entities or to sell, lease or transfer all or substantially all of our assets
to another entity. The Secured Notes also contain customary events of default. We may redeem the Secured Notes at 103.750% until July 15, 2020,
101.875% until July 15, 2021, and 100.000% thereafter, together with all accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption.

Senior Unsecured Notes

AK Steel has outstanding 7.625% Senior Notes due October 2021 (the “2021 Notes”). We may redeem the 2021 Notes at 100.0%, together with all accrued
and unpaid interest to the date of redemption.

AK Steel has outstanding 6.375% Senior Unsecured Notes due October 2025 (the “2025 Notes”). Before October 15, 2020, we may redeem the 2025 Notes
at a price equal to par plus a make-whole premium and all accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. After that date, we may redeem them at
103.188% until October 15, 2021, 101.594% thereafter until October 15, 2022, and 100.000% thereafter, together with all accrued and unpaid interest to the
date of redemption. In 2017, we recognized other expense of $8.4 related to the issuance of the 2025 Notes. During 2019 and 2018, we repurchased an
aggregate principal amount of $4.6 and $5.2 of the 2025 Notes in private, open market transactions. We recognized a net gain on the repurchases totaling
$0.6 and $0.7 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, which is included in other (income) expense.

AK Steel has outstanding 7.00% Senior Unsecured Notes due March 2027 (the “2027 Notes”). Before March 15, 2022, we may redeem the 2027 Notes at a
price equal to par plus a make-whole premium and all accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. After that date, we may redeem them at
103.500% until March 15, 2023, 102.333% thereafter until March 15, 2024, 101.167% thereafter until March 15, 2025, and 100.000% thereafter, together with
all accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. In 2017, we recognized other expense of $13.1 related to the issuance of the 2027 Notes. During
2018, we repurchased an aggregate principal amount of $8.4 of the 2027 Notes in private, open market transactions. We recognized a net gain on the
repurchases totaling $1.3 for the year ended December 31, 2018, which is included in other (income) expense.

The 2021 Notes, the 2025 Notes, the 2027 Notes and the unsecured industrial revenue bonds (“IRBs”) discussed below (collectively, the “Senior Unsecured
Notes”) are equal in right of payment. AK Holding and the Subsidiary Guarantors each, fully and unconditionally, jointly and severally, guarantees the payment
of interest, principal and premium, if any, on the Senior Unsecured Notes. The indentures governing the 2021 Notes, the 2025 Notes, the 2027 Notes and the
unsecured IRBs include covenants with customary restrictions on (a) the incurrence of additional debt by certain subsidiaries, (b) the incurrence of certain
liens, (c) the amount of sale/leaseback transactions, and (d) our ability to merge or consolidate with other entities or to sell, lease or transfer all or substantially
all of our assets to another entity. The indentures governing the Senior Unsecured Notes also contain
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customary events of default. The Senior Unsecured Notes rank junior in priority to the Secured Notes to the extent of the value of the assets securing the
Secured Notes.

Industrial Revenue Bonds

AK Steel has outstanding $73.3 aggregate principal amount of fixed-rate, tax-exempt IRBs (the “unsecured IRBs”) at December 31, 2019. The weighted-
average fixed interest rate of the unsecured IRBs is 6.8%. The unsecured IRBs are unsecured senior debt obligations of AK Steel that are equal in ranking
with the other Senior Unsecured Notes. In addition, AK Steel has outstanding $26.0 aggregate principal amount of variable-rate taxable IRBs at December 31,
2019, that are backed by letters of credit.

Exchangeable Notes

AK Steel’s 5.0% Exchangeable Senior Notes due November 2019 (the “Exchangeable Notes”) were redeemed at their maturity date. Although the
Exchangeable Notes were issued at par, for accounting purposes the proceeds received from the issuance of the notes were allocated between debt and
equity to reflect the fair value of the exchange option embedded in the notes and the fair value of similar debt without the exchange option. Therefore, we
recorded $38.7 of the gross proceeds of the Exchangeable Notes as an increase in additional paid-in capital with the offsetting amount recorded as a debt
discount. We amortized the debt discount and issuance costs over the term of the Exchangeable Notes using the effective interest method. As of December
31, 2018, the net carrying amount of the Exchangeable Notes was $141.4.

 
NOTE 8 - Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

     

Summary

We provide noncontributory pension and various healthcare and life insurance benefits to a significant portion of our employees and retirees. Benefits are
provided through defined benefit and defined contribution plans that we sponsor, as well as multiemployer plans for certain union members. Our defined
benefit pension plans are not fully funded. We will be required to make pension contributions of approximately $45.0 for 2020. Based on current actuarial
assumptions, we expect to make required pension contributions of approximately $45.0 for 2021 and $35.0 for 2022. Factors that affect future funding
projections include differences between expected and actual returns on plan assets, actuarial data and assumptions relating to plan participants, the discount
rate used to measure the pension obligations and changes to regulatory funding requirements. We expect to make OPEB payments, after receipt of Medicare
subsidy reimbursements, of approximately $35.6 in 2020.
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Defined Benefit Plans

Plan Obligations

Amounts presented below are calculated based on benefit obligation and asset valuation measurement dates of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

  Pension Benefits  Other Benefits
  2019  2018  2019  2018
Change in benefit obligations:         
Benefit obligations at beginning of year  $ 2,210.0  $ 2,808.0  $ 398.2  $ 448.5
Service cost  2.5  3.2  3.5  4.5
Interest cost  85.9  94.5  16.4  15.6
Plan participants’ contributions  —  —  24.3  24.7
Actuarial loss (gain)  206.5  (148.8)  16.2  (23.7)
Amendments  —  —  —  (11.1)
Benefits paid  (211.3)  (268.1)  (53.2)  (62.6)
Annuity settlement  (615.6)  (278.8)  —  —
Termination benefits—Ashland Works  9.7  —  3.6  —
Medicare subsidy reimbursement received  —  —  2.1  2.3
Benefit obligations at end of year  $ 1,687.7  $ 2,210.0  $ 411.1  $ 398.2
         
Change in plan assets:         
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $ 1,739.6  $ 2,322.2  $ —  $ —
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets  382.5  (87.0)  —  —
Employer contributions  44.8  51.3  26.8  35.6
Plan participants’ contributions  —  —  24.3  24.7
Benefits paid  (211.3)  (268.1)  (53.2)  (62.6)
Annuity settlement  (615.6)  (278.8)  —  —
Medicare subsidy reimbursement received  —  —  2.1  2.3
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ 1,340.0  $ 1,739.6  $ —  $ —
Funded status  $ (347.7)  $ (470.4)  $ (411.1)  $ (398.2)

         
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:         
Current liabilities  $ (5.4)  $ (1.2)  $ (35.6)  $ (37.5)
Noncurrent liabilities  (342.3)  (469.2)  (375.5)  (360.7)
Total  $ (347.7)  $ (470.4)  $ (411.1)  $ (398.2)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, before taxes:

        
Actuarial loss (gain)  $ 48.5  $ 134.1  $ (15.5)  $ (35.4)
Prior service cost (credit)  15.9  19.4  (69.2)  (82.4)
Total  $ 64.4  $ 153.5  $ (84.7)  $ (117.8)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $1,675.8 and $2,188.6 at December 31, 2019 and 2018. All our defined benefit
pension plans have an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets. The amounts included in current liabilities represent only the amounts of our
unfunded pension and OPEB benefit plans that we expect to pay in the next year.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, we transferred to a highly rated insurance company $615.6 of pension obligations for approximately 4,250 retirees or their
beneficiaries. As part of this transaction, we transferred a similar amount of pension trust assets to purchase a non-participating annuity contract that requires
the insurance company to pay the transferred pension obligations to the pension participants. As a result of the transfer of pension assets in November 2019,
we recorded a settlement loss of $26.9 in the fourth quarter of 2019 to recognize the portion of the unrealized actuarial loss associated with the transferred
obligations.
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During the fourth quarter of 2018, we transferred to a highly rated insurance company $278.8 of pension obligations for approximately 5,400 retirees or their
beneficiaries. As part of this transaction, we transferred a similar amount of pension trust assets to purchase a non-participating annuity contract. As a result of
the transfer of pension assets in October 2018, we recorded a settlement loss of $14.5 in the fourth quarter of 2018.

During 2019, we recognized pension and OPEB termination benefits of $13.3 related to the Ashland Works closure.

The 2019 change in the actuarial loss (gain) for the pension plans in the table above primarily consisted of gains of $272.8 for actual pension asset return
greater than expected and changes in demographic assumptions, partially offset by a loss of $182.4 for the decrease in discount rate used to value the benefit
obligations and a loss of $31.0 for changes in mortality tables. The 2019 change in the actuarial loss (gain) for the OPEB plan in the table above primarily
consisted of a loss of $33.7 for the decrease in discount rate used to value the benefit obligations, partly offset by gains related to changes in demographic
assumptions and lower than expected benefit payments.

Assumptions used to value benefit obligations and determine pension and OPEB (income) expense are presented below:

  Pension Benefits  Other Benefits
  2019  2018  2017  2019  2018  2017
Assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations at December 31:             
Discount rate  3.29%  4.22%  3.54%  3.33%  4.27%  3.59%
Rate of compensation increase  4.00%  4.00%  4.00%       
Interest crediting rate  3.80%  3.80%  3.80%       
Subsequent year healthcare cost trend rate        6.17%  6.50%  6.65%
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate        4.50%  4.50%  4.50%
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate begins        2025  2025  2025
             
Assumptions used to determine pension and
OPEB (income) expense for the year ended
December 31:             
Discount rate  4.14%  3.69%  3.93%  4.27%  3.59%  4.04%
Expected return on plan assets  6.75%  7.00%  7.25%       
Rate of compensation increase  4.00%  4.00%  4.00%       
Interest crediting rate  3.80%  3.80%  3.80%       

We determine the discount rate at each remeasurement by finding a hypothetical portfolio of individual high-quality corporate bonds available at the
measurement date with coupon and principal payments that could satisfy the plans’ expected future benefit payments that we use to calculate the projected
benefit obligation. The discount rate is the single rate that is equivalent to the average yield on that hypothetical portfolio of bonds. We changed our
assumption for future expected returns on pension plan assets to 7.50% from 6.75%, effective January 1, 2020 in response to a change in asset allocation.

Estimated future benefit payments to beneficiaries are presented below:

  
Pension

Plans  
Other

Benefits
2020  $ 142.6  $ 35.6
2021  134.7  34.7
2022  137.2  34.0
2023  125.4  32.1
2024  130.7  30.4
2025 through 2029  592.7  129.4
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Plan Assets

Our investments in the master pension trust primarily include indexed and actively-managed funds. A fiduciary committee sets the target asset mix and
monitors asset performance. We determine the master pension trust’s projected long-term rate of return based on the asset allocation, the trust’s investment
policy statement and our long-term capital market return assumptions for the master trust.

We have developed an investment policy that considers liquidity requirements, expected investment return, funded status and expected asset risk, as well as
standard industry practices. The investment policy also dictates a target allocation based primarily on the funded status of the plan. The target asset allocation
for the master pension trust at December 31, 2019 was 60% equity and 40% fixed income. Equity investments consist of individual securities, equity mutual
funds and common/collective trusts with equity investment strategies, which are diversified across multiple industry sectors, company market capitalizations
and geographical investment strategies. The equity mutual funds and common/collective trusts have no unfunded commitments or significant redemption
restrictions. Fixed-income investments consist of individual securities and common/collective trusts, which invest primarily in investment-grade and high-yield
corporate bonds and U.S. Treasury securities. The fixed-income investments are diversified by ratings, maturities, industries and other factors. Plan assets
contain no significant concentrations of risk from individual securities or industry sectors. The master pension trust has no direct investments in our common
stock or fixed-income securities.

Master pension trust investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are presented below, with certain assets
presented by level within the fair value hierarchy. As a practical expedient, we estimate the value of common/collective trusts and equity mutual funds by
using the net asset value (“NAV”) per share multiplied by the number of shares of the trust investment held as of the measurement date. If we have the ability
to redeem our investment in the respective alternative investment at the NAV with no significant restrictions on the redemption at the consolidated balance
sheet date, excluding equity mutual funds, we categorized the alternative investment as a reconciliation of pension investments reported in the fair value
hierarchy to the master pension trust’s balance. See Note 17 for more information on the determination of fair value.

  

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs     

  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  Total
  2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018
Investments in fair value hierarchy             
Equity investments:             
U.S. securities  $ 39.1  $ 35.4  $ —  $ —  $ 39.1  $ 35.4
Global securities  —  —  140.2  131.4  140.2  131.4
Fixed-income investments:             
High-yield U.S. securities  —  —  87.2  84.5  87.2  84.5
Other U.S. securities  —  —  318.2  700.8  318.2  700.8
Global securities  —  —  66.1  82.8  66.1  82.8
Other investments  —  —  79.1  78.0  79.1  78.0

Total pension investments in fair value hierarchy  $ 39.1  $ 35.4  $ 690.8  $ 1,077.5  $ 729.9  $ 1,112.9

             
Investments with fair values measured at net asset value             
Common/collective trusts:             
U.S. equity securities (a)          367.2  355.8
Global equity securities (a)          196.9  178.2
Global fixed-income securities (b)          46.0  92.7

Total pension assets at fair value          $ 1,340.0  $ 1,739.6

(a) Investments may include common stocks, options and
futures.

(b) Investments may include investment-grade and high-yield corporate bonds, interest rate swaps, options and
futures.          
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Periodic Benefit Costs

Components of pension and OPEB (income) expense for the years 2019, 2018 and 2017 are presented below:

  Pension Benefits  Other Benefits
  2019  2018  2017  2019  2018  2017
Components of pension and OPEB (income)
expense:             
Service cost  $ 2.5  $ 3.2  $ 2.8  $ 3.5  $ 4.5  $ 4.7
Interest cost  85.9  94.5  108.2  16.4  15.6  17.3
Expected return on plan assets  (109.7)  (148.8)  (149.9)  —  —  —
Amortization of prior service cost (credit)  3.6  3.8  4.7  (13.2)  (13.6)  (58.5)
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain):             
Annual amortization  (7.6)  16.1  10.5  (3.6)  (1.3)  (4.2)
Settlement loss  26.9  14.5  —  —  —  —
Termination benefits—Ashland Works  9.7  —  —  3.6  —  —
Pension and OPEB (income) expense  $ 11.3  $ (16.7)  $ (23.7)  $ 6.7  $ 5.2  $ (40.7)

Defined Contribution Plans

All employees are eligible to participate in various defined contribution plans. Certain of these plans have features with matching contributions or other
company contributions based on our financial results. Total expense from these plans was $29.0, $31.1 and $24.9 in 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Multiemployer Pension Plans

We contribute to multiemployer pension plans according to collective bargaining agreements that cover certain union-represented employees. The following
risks of participating in these multiemployer plans differ from single employer pension plan risks:

• Employer contributions to a multiemployer plan may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers.
• If a participating employer stops contributing to a multiemployer plan, the remaining participating employers may need to assume the unfunded

obligations of the plan.
• If the multiemployer plan becomes significantly underfunded or is unable to pay its benefits, we may be required to contribute additional amounts

in excess of the rate required by the collective bargaining agreements.
• If we choose to stop participating in a multiemployer plan, we may be required to pay that plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the

plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability.

We are a party to a collective bargaining agreement at Ashland Works that requires contributions to the Steelworkers Pension Trust multiemployer pension
plan. We recorded an estimated withdrawal liability of $10.0 in 2019 as a result of the closure of that facility. The actual withdrawal liability will not be known
until a future year and is expected to be paid over a number of years. See Note 3 for further information.

In April 2019, the trustees for the IAM National Pension Fund (the “Fund”) voluntarily elected to place the Fund in the Red Zone for 2019 and implement a
rehabilitation plan. The rehabilitation plan provides two options for a new schedule to be adopted by employers and their covered bargaining employees to
both increase employer contributions and reduce certain employee pension benefits. Depending on the schedule selected, our contributions to the Fund could
increase approximately $2.0 in 2020, with gradually increasing requirements through 2031.

Our participation in these multiemployer plans for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, is presented below. We do not provide more than five
percent of the total contributions to any multiemployer plan. Forms 5500 are not yet available for plan years ending in 2019.
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Pension Fund  
EIN/Pension Plan

Number  
Pension Protection
Act Zone Status (a)  

FIP/RP Status
Pending/Implemented

(b)  Contributions  
Surcharge

Imposed (c)  

Expiration Date
of Collective
Bargaining
Agreement

    2019  2018    2019  2018  2017     
Steelworkers
Pension Trust  23-6648508/499  Green  Green  No  $ 3.9  $ 4.2  $ 6.3  No  

1/22/2021 to
5/14/2021 (d)

IAM National
Pension Fund’s
National Pension
Plan  51-6031295/002  Red  Green  Yes  18.9  17.7  18.4  Yes  

3/15/2020 to
6/15/2022 (e)

          $ 22.8  $ 21.9  $ 24.7     
(a) The most recent Pension Protection Act zone status available in 2019 and 2018 is for each plan’s year-end at December 31, 2018 and 2017, except that

the IAM National Pension Fund’s National Pension Plan reflects the election by the Fund to place the Fund in Red Zone in April 2019. The plan’s actuary
certifies the zone status. Generally, plans in the red zone are less than 65% funded, plans in the yellow zone are between 65% and 80% funded, and plans
in the green zone are at least 80% funded. The Steelworkers Pension Trust and IAM National Pension Fund’s National Pension Plan elected funding relief
under section 431(b)(8) of the Internal Revenue Code and section 304(b)(8) of the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). This
election allows those plans’ investment losses for the plan year ended December 31, 2008, to be amortized over 29 years for funding purposes.

(b) The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a financial improvement plan (FIP) or a rehabilitation plan (RP) is
either pending or has been implemented, as defined by ERISA.

(c) The surcharge represents an additional required contribution due as a result of the critical funding status of the plan.
(d) We are a party to three collective bargaining agreements at our Ashland Works, Mansfield Works and at the AK Tube Walbridge plant that require

contributions to the Steelworkers Pension Trust. The labor contract for approximately 100 hourly employees at the AK Tube Walbridge plant expires
January 22, 2021. The labor contract for approximately 300 hourly employees at Mansfield Works expires on March 31, 2021. The labor contract for
approximately 10 active hourly employees at the Ashland Works currently expires May 14, 2021.

(e) We are a party to three collective bargaining agreements at our Butler Works, Middletown Works and Zanesville Works that require contributions to the IAM
National Pension Fund’s National Pension Plan. The labor contract for approximately 1,750 hourly employees at Middletown Works expires on March 15,
2020. The labor contract for approximately 100 hourly employees at Zanesville Works expires on May 31, 2022. The labor contract for approximately 1,100
hourly employees at Butler Works expires on June 15, 2022.

 
NOTE 9 - Leases

     

We have leases primarily for offices, production buildings and equipment. Our leases have remaining contractual lease terms of up to 20 years. Certain leases
include options to extend the lease terms, and those extensions are for periods from 1 to 32 years depending on the particular lease. Some leases may also
include options to terminate the leases. Certain leases include variable lease payments based on production, usage or independent factors such as changes
in published producer price indices.

Lease costs are presented below:

 

  

 2019
Operating leases $ 67.7
Short-term leases 45.7
Variable lease costs 73.0
Total $ 186.4
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Rental expense was $48.1 and $43.1 for 2018 and 2017.

Other information related to leases was as follows:

 

  

 2019
Cash paid for operating leases within cash flows from operating activities $ 74.4
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities 28.9
Weighted-average remaining lease term of operating leases (in years) 8.2
Weighted-average discount rate for operating leases 8.5

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2019, were as follows:

 

  

Year ending December 31:  
2020 $ 67.8
2021 54.1
2022 43.8
2023 37.2
2024 29.8
Thereafter 144.5
Total future minimum operating lease payments 377.2
Less imputed interest 115.5
Total operating lease liabilities 261.7
Less current portion of operating lease liabilities (included in Accrued liabilities) 49.6
Long-term operating lease liabilities (included in Other non-current liabilities) $ 212.1

 
NOTE 10 - Commitments

     

We purchase substantial portions of the principal raw materials required for our steel manufacturing operations under annual and multi-year agreements,
some of which have minimum quantity requirements. We also use large volumes of natural gas, electricity and industrial gases in our steel manufacturing
operations. We negotiate most of our purchases of chrome, coke, industrial gases, iron ore and a portion of our electricity under multi-year agreements. The
iron ore agreements typically have a variable-price mechanism that adjusts the price of iron ore periodically, based on reference to an iron ore index and other
market-based factors. We typically purchase coal under annual fixed-price agreements. We also purchase certain transportation services under multi-year
contracts with minimum quantity requirements.

Commitments for future capital investments at December 31, 2019, totaled approximately $65.2, all of which we expect to incur in 2020.

 
NOTE 11 - Environmental and Legal Contingencies

     

Environmental Contingencies

Domestic steel producers, including us, must follow stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations designed to protect human health and the
environment. We have spent the following amounts over the past three years for environmental-related capital investments and environmental compliance:
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  2019  2018  2017
Environmental-related capital investments  $ 23.0  $ 7.1  $ 6.8
Environmental compliance costs  141.3  126.3  129.5

We and our predecessors have been involved in steel manufacturing and related operations since 1900. Although we believe our operating practices have
been consistent with prevailing industry standards, hazardous materials may have been released at operating sites or third-party sites in the past, including
operating sites that we no longer own. If we reasonably can, we have estimated potential remediation expenditures for those sites where future remediation
efforts are probable based on identified conditions, regulatory requirements or contractual obligations arising from the sale of a business or facility. For sites
involving government-required investigations, we typically make an estimate of potential remediation expenditures only after the investigation is complete and
when we better understand the nature and scope of the remediation. In general, the material factors in these estimates include the costs associated with
investigations, delineations, risk assessments, remedial work, governmental response and oversight, site monitoring, and preparation of reports to the
appropriate environmental agencies. We have recorded the following liabilities for environmental matters on our consolidated balance sheets:

  2019  2018
Accrued liabilities  $ 6.1  $ 8.0
Other non-current liabilities  32.6  31.2

We cannot predict the ultimate costs for each site with certainty because of the evolving nature of the investigation and remediation process. Rather, to
estimate the probable costs, we must make certain assumptions. The most significant of these assumptions is for the nature and scope of the work that will be
necessary to investigate and remediate a particular site and the cost of that work. Other significant assumptions include the cleanup technology that will be
used, whether and to what extent any other parties will participate in paying the investigation and remediation costs, reimbursement of past response and
future oversight costs by governmental agencies, and the reaction of the governing environmental agencies to the proposed work plans. Costs for future
investigation and remediation are not discounted to their present value. To the extent that we have been able to reasonably estimate future liabilities, we do
not believe that there is a reasonable possibility that we will incur a loss or losses that exceed the amounts we accrued for the environmental matters
discussed below that would, either individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations
or cash flows. However, since we recognize amounts in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States that exclude potential losses that are not probable or that may not be currently estimable, the ultimate costs of these environmental
proceedings may be higher than the liabilities we currently have recorded in our consolidated financial statements.

Except as we expressly note below, we do not currently anticipate any material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows
as a result of compliance with current environmental regulations. Moreover, because all domestic steel producers operate under the same federal
environmental regulations, we do not believe that we are more disadvantaged than our domestic competitors by our need to comply with these regulations.
Some foreign competitors may benefit from less stringent environmental requirements in the countries where they produce, resulting in lower compliance
costs for them and providing those foreign competitors with a cost advantage on their products.

According to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), which governs the treatment, handling and disposal of hazardous waste, the EPA and
authorized state environmental agencies may conduct inspections of RCRA-regulated facilities to identify areas where there have been releases of hazardous
waste or hazardous constituents into the environment and may order the facilities to take corrective action to remediate such releases. Environmental
regulators may inspect our major steelmaking facilities. While we cannot predict the future actions of these regulators, it is possible that they may identify
conditions in future inspections of these facilities which they believe require corrective action.

Under authority from the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), the EPA and state environmental authorities
have conducted site investigations at certain of our facilities and other third-party facilities, portions of which previously may have been used for disposal of
materials that are currently regulated. The results of these investigations are still pending, and we could be directed to spend funds for remedial activities at the
former disposal areas. Because of the uncertain status of these investigations, however, we cannot reliably predict whether or when such spending might be
required or its magnitude.
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As previously noted, on April 29, 2002, we entered a mutually agreed-upon administrative order on consent with the EPA pursuant to Section 122 of CERCLA
to perform a Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (“RI/FS”) of the former Hamilton Plant site located in New Miami, Ohio. The plant ceased operations in
1990 and all of its former structures have been demolished. We submitted the investigation portion of the RI/FS and completed supplemental studies. We
currently have accrued $0.7 for the remaining cost of the RI/FS. Until the RI/FS is complete, we cannot reliably estimate the additional costs, if any, we may
incur for potentially required remediation of the site or when we may incur them.

As previously reported, on September 30, 1998, our predecessor, Armco Inc., received an order from the EPA under Section 3013 of RCRA requiring it to
develop a plan for investigation of eight areas of our Mansfield Works that allegedly could be sources of contamination. A site investigation began in
November 2000 and is continuing. We cannot reliably estimate how long it will take to complete this site investigation. We currently have accrued $0.5 for the
projected cost of the remaining investigation and corrective measures study. Until the site investigation and study are complete, we cannot reliably estimate
the additional costs, if any, we may incur for potentially required remediation of the site or when we may incur them.

As previously noted, on September 26, 2012, the EPA issued an order under Section 3013 of RCRA requiring us to develop a plan for investigation of four
areas at our former Ashland Works coke plant. The Ashland Works coke plant ceased operations in 2011 and all of its former structures have been
demolished and removed. In 1981, we acquired the plant from Honeywell International Corporation (as successor to Allied Corporation), who had managed the
coking operations there for approximately 60 years. In connection with the sale of the coke plant, Honeywell agreed to indemnify us from certain claims and
obligations that could arise from the investigation and we intend to pursue such indemnification from Honeywell, if necessary. We cannot reliably estimate how
long it will take to complete the site investigation. On March 10, 2016, the EPA invited us to participate in settlement discussions regarding an enforcement
action. Settlement discussions between the parties are ongoing, though whether the parties will reach agreement and any such agreement’s terms are
uncertain. We currently have accrued $1.4 for the projected cost of the investigation and known remediation. Until the site investigation is complete, we
cannot reliably estimate the costs, if any, we may incur for potential additional required remediation of the site or when we may incur them.

As previously reported, on July 15, 2009, we and the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (“PADEP”) entered a Consent Order and
Agreement (the “Consent Order”) to resolve an alleged unpermitted discharge of wastewater from the closed Hillside Landfill at our former Ambridge Works.
Under the terms of the Consent Order, we paid a penalty and also agreed to implement various corrective actions, including an investigation of the area where
landfill activities occurred, submission of a plan to collect and treat surface waters and seep discharges, and upon approval from PADEP, implementation of
that plan. We have accrued $4.8 for the remedial work required under the approved plan and Consent Order. A National Pollution Discharge Elimination
System (“NPDES”) permit was issued in 2019 that includes a compliance schedule. We currently estimate that the remaining work will be completed in
accordance with the schedule in 2022.

As previously reported, on June 29, 2000, the United States filed a complaint on behalf of the EPA against us in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Ohio, Case No. C-1-00530, alleging violations of the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act and RCRA at our Middletown Works. Subsequently, the State of
Ohio, the Sierra Club and the National Resources Defense Council intervened. On May 15, 2006, the court entered a Consent Decree in Partial Resolution of
Pending Claims (the “Consent Decree”). Under the Consent Decree, we agreed to undertake a comprehensive RCRA facility investigation at Middletown
Works and, as appropriate, complete a corrective measures study. The Consent Decree also required us to implement certain RCRA corrective action interim
measures. We have completed the remedial activity at Dicks Creek, but continue to work on the RCRA facility investigation and certain interim measures. We
have accrued $13.1 for the cost of known remediation and other work required under the Consent Decree.

As previously reported, on May 12, 2014, the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (“EGLE”) (previously the Michigan Department
of Environmental Quality) issued to our Dearborn Works an Air Permit to Install No. 182-05C (the “PTI”) to increase the emission limits for the blast furnace
and other emission sources. The PTI was issued as a correction to a prior permit to install that did not include certain information during the prior permitting
process. On July 10, 2014, the South Dearborn Environmental Improvement Association (“SDEIA”), Detroiters Working for Environmental Justice, Original
United Citizens of Southwest Detroit and the Sierra Club filed a Claim of Appeal of the PTI in the State of Michigan, Wayne County Circuit, Case No. 14-
008887-
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AA. The appellants and EGLE required the intervention of Severstal Dearborn, LLC (“Dearborn”) (now owned by us) in this action as an additional appellee.
The appellants allege multiple deficiencies with the PTI and the permitting process. On July 2, 2019, the Circuit Court dismissed the PTI appeal and ruled that
EGLE appropriately issued the permit modification. The appellants have appealed that decision. Until the appeal is resolved, we cannot determine what the
ultimate permit limits will be. Until the permit limits are determined and final, we cannot reliably estimate the costs we may incur, if any, or when we may incur
them.

As previously reported, on August 21, 2014, the SDEIA filed a Complaint under the Michigan Environmental Protection Act in the State of Michigan, Wayne
County Circuit Case No. 14-010875-CE. The plaintiffs allege that the air emissions from our Dearborn Works are impacting the air, water and other natural
resources, as well as the public trust in such resources. The plaintiffs are requesting, among other requested relief, that the court assess and determine the
sufficiency of the PTI’s limitations. On October 15, 2014, the court ordered a stay of the proceedings until a final order is issued in Wayne County Circuit Court
Case No. 14-008887-AA (discussed above). When the proceedings resume, we will vigorously contest these claims. Until the claims in this Complaint are
resolved, we cannot reliably estimate the costs we may incur, if any, or when we may incur them.

As previously reported, on April 27, 2000, EGLE issued RCRA Corrective Action Order No. 111-04-00-07E to Rouge Steel Company and Ford Motor
Company for the property that includes our Dearborn Works. The Corrective Action Order has been amended five times. We are a party to the Corrective
Action Order as the successor-in-interest to Dearborn, which was the successor-in-interest to Rouge Steel Company. The Corrective Action Order requires
the site-wide investigation, and where appropriate, remediation of the facility. The site investigation and remediation are ongoing. We cannot reliably estimate
how long it will take to complete this site investigation and remediation. To date, Ford Motor Company has incurred most of the costs of the investigation and
remediation due to its prior ownership of the steelmaking operations at Dearborn Works. Until the site investigation is complete, we cannot reliably estimate
the additional costs we may incur, if any, for any potentially required remediation of the site or when we may incur them.

As previously reported, we received an order in October 2002 from the EPA under Section 3013 of RCRA requiring us to investigate several areas of
Zanesville Works that allegedly could be sources of contamination. A site investigation began in 2003 and was approved by EPA in November 2012. On
October 28, 2016, the EPA requested that we conduct a corrective measures study and implement these measures as necessary. We subsequently agreed to
proceed with a voluntary corrective measures study and have accrued $0.8 for the study. Until the study is complete, we cannot reliably estimate the costs, if
any, we may incur for potential required remediation of the site or when we may incur them.

On November 18, 2019 and November 26, 2019, EGLE issued Notices of Violations (“NOVs”) with respect to the basic oxygen furnace at Dearborn Works
alleging violations of manganese and lead limits. We are investigating these claims and will work with EGLE to attempt to resolve them. We will vigorously
contest any claims that cannot be resolved through a settlement. Until a settlement is reached with EGLE or the claims of the NOVs are otherwise resolved,
we cannot reliably estimate the costs, if any, associated with any potentially required work.

In addition to the foregoing matters, we are or may be involved in proceedings with various regulatory authorities that may require us to pay fines, comply with
more rigorous standards or other requirements or incur capital and operating expenses for environmental compliance. We believe that the ultimate disposition
of the proceedings will not have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.

Legal Contingencies

As previously reported, since 1990 we have been named as a defendant in numerous lawsuits alleging personal injury as a result of exposure to asbestos. The
great majority of these lawsuits have been filed on behalf of people who claim to have been exposed to asbestos while visiting the premises of one of our
current or former facilities. The majority of asbestos cases pending in which we are a defendant do not include a specific dollar claim for damages. In the
cases that do include specific dollar claims for damages, the complaint typically includes a monetary claim for compensatory damages and a separate
monetary claim in an equal amount for punitive damages, but does not attempt to allocate the total monetary claim among the various defendants.
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The number of asbestos cases pending at December 31, 2019, is presented below:

 

   

 
Asbestos Cases Pending

at
 December 31, 2019
Cases with specific dollar claims for damages:  

Claims up to $0.2 183
Claims above $0.2 to $5.0 4
Claims above $5.0 to $20.0 3
Total claims with specific dollar claims for damages (a) 190

Cases without a specific dollar claim for damages 177
Total asbestos cases pending 367

(a) Involve a total of 2,265 plaintiffs and 21,406
defendants

In each case, the amount described is per plaintiff against all of the defendants, collectively. Thus, it usually is not possible at the outset of a case to determine
the specific dollar amount of a claim against us. In fact, it usually is not even possible at the outset to determine which of the plaintiffs actually will pursue a
claim against us. Typically, that can only be determined through written interrogatories or other discovery after a case has been filed. Therefore, in a case
involving multiple plaintiffs and multiple defendants, we initially only account for the lawsuit as one claim. After we have determined through discovery whether
a particular plaintiff will pursue a claim, we make an appropriate adjustment to statistically account for that specific claim. It has been our experience that only
a small percentage of asbestos plaintiffs ultimately identify us as a target defendant from whom they actually seek damages and most of these claims
ultimately are either dismissed or settled for a small fraction of the damages initially claimed. We maintain appropriate reserves within a range of possible
outcomes for asbestos claims. Asbestos-related claims information in 2019, 2018 and 2017, is presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
New Claims Filed  64  68  58
Pending Claims Disposed Of  40  61  61
Total Amount Paid in Settlements  $ 3.5  $ 1.4  $ 1.2

Since the onset of asbestos claims against us in 1990, six asbestos claims against us proceeded to trial in five separate cases. Five out of six claims
concluded with a verdict in our favor. On June 14, 2019, judgment was entered on a jury verdict in an asbestos case in state court in Oklahoma against a
party that was indemnified by us and another unrelated defendant. The judgment amount was $8.1 against both defendants jointly and severally. We are
appealing that judgment and intend to contest the matter vigorously, which may include asserting contribution claims against the other defendant. We continue
to vigorously defend all asbestos claims. Based upon present knowledge, and the factors above, we believe it is unlikely that the resolution in the aggregate of
the asbestos claims against us will have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. However,
predictions about the outcome of pending litigation, particularly claims alleging asbestos exposure, are subject to substantial uncertainties. These uncertainties
include (1) the significantly variable rate at which new claims may be filed, (2) the effect of bankruptcies of other companies currently or historically defending
asbestos claims, (3) the litigation process from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and from case to case, (4) the type and severity of the disease each claimant is
alleged to suffer, and (5) the potential for enactment of legislation affecting asbestos litigation.

Six actions, including one putative class action lawsuit, have been filed in federal court in Delaware, Michigan and New York by purported AK Steel
stockholders in connection with the Merger: Stein v. AK Steel Holding Corp., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00054 (D. Del., filed January 14, 2020) (the “Stein
Action”); Spuhler v. AK Steel Holding Corp., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00444 (S.D.N.Y., filed January 16, 2020) (the “Spuhler Action”); Franchi v. AK Steel
Holding Corp., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00078 (D. Del., filed January 17, 2020) (the “Franchi Action”); Raul v. AK Steel Holding Corp., et al., No. 1:20-cv-00611
(S.D.N.Y., filed January 23, 2020) (the “Raul Action”); Ruiz v. AK Steel Holding Corp., et al., No. 1:20-cv-00620 (E.D.N.Y., filed February 4, 2020) (the “Ruiz
Action”); and Rubin v. AK Steel Holding Corp., et al., No. 2:20-cv-10379-BAF-DRG (E.D. Mich., filed February 12, 2020) (the “Rubin Action”). The
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Stein Action, Spuhler Action, Franchi Action, Raul Action, Ruiz Action and Rubin Action are collectively referred to as the “AK Steel Stockholder Federal
Actions.” A seventh action, Pate v. AK Steel Holding Corp., et al., Case No. CV 2020 01 0196 (Ohio Common Pleas, Butler County, filed January 28, 2020)
(the “Pate Action”), has been filed by a purported AK Steel stockholder as a putative class action in state court in Ohio. The Pate Action and the AK Steel
Stockholder Federal Actions are collectively referred to as the “AK Steel Stockholder Actions.” Each of the AK Steel Stockholder Actions names AK Steel and
its directors as defendants, and the Franchi Action and Pate Action name Cliffs and Merger Sub as additional defendants. An eighth action, Nessim v.
Cleveland-Cliffs Inc., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-00850 (S.D.N.Y., filed January 31, 2020) (the “Nessim Action”), has been filed in federal court in New York
against Cliffs and its directors by a purported shareholder of Cliffs. The Nessim Action and the AK Steel Stockholder Federal Actions are collectively referred to
as the “Federal Stockholder Actions,” and all eight actions are collectively referred to as the “Stockholder Actions.” Each of the Federal Stockholder Actions
alleges, among other things, that the registration statement on Form S-4 filed by Cliffs in connection with the Merger is false and misleading and/or omits
material information concerning the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement in violation of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule
14a-9 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The Pate Action alleges breach of fiduciary duty claims against the AK Steel directors and aiding and abetting
claims against AK Steel, Cliffs and Merger Sub in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including that the registration
statement on Form S-4 filed by Cliffs in connection with the Merger is false and misleading and/or omits material information concerning the transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement. The plaintiffs in the Stockholder Actions, among other things, seek to enjoin the transactions contemplated by the
Merger Agreement and an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses. We believe that the allegations in each of these complaints lack merit and plan to contest
the matters vigorously.

Other Contingencies

In addition to the matters discussed above, there are various pending and potential claims against us and our subsidiaries involving product liability,
commercial, employee benefits and other matters arising in the ordinary course of business. Because of the considerable uncertainties which exist for any
claim, it is difficult to reliably or accurately estimate what the amount of a loss would be if a claimant prevails. If material assumptions or factual
understandings we rely on to evaluate exposure for these contingencies prove to be inaccurate or otherwise change, we may be required to record a liability
for an adverse outcome. If, however, we have reasonably evaluated potential future liabilities for all of these contingencies, including those described more
specifically above, it is our opinion, unless we otherwise noted, that the ultimate liability from these contingencies, individually and in the aggregate, should not
have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
NOTE 12 - Stockholders’ Equity

     

Common Stock

Our common stockholders may receive dividends when and as declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available for distribution. The holders
have one vote per share in respect of all matters and are not entitled to preemptive rights.

Preferred Stock

There are 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized; no shares are issued or outstanding.

Dividends

The instruments governing our outstanding senior debt allow dividend payments. However, our Credit Facility restricts dividend payments under certain
conditions. Dividends are permitted if no default or event of default exists under the terms of the Credit Facility and (i) availability under the Credit Facility
exceeds 20% of the lesser of the Credit Facility commitment or eligible collateral after advance rates or (ii) availability exceeds 15% of the lesser of the Credit
Facility commitment or eligible collateral after advance rates and we meet a fixed charge coverage ratio of one to one as of the most recently ended fiscal
quarter. At December 31, 2019, availability under the Credit Facility significantly exceeds these amounts. If we cannot meet either of these thresholds, annual
dividends would be limited to the greater of $18.0 or 0.5% of consolidated total assets, with additional dividends permitted equal to the greater of $25.0 or
0.7% of consolidated total assets in aggregate over the life of the Credit Facility.
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Share Repurchase Program

In October 2008, the Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase, from time to time, up to $150.0 of our outstanding common stock. We have not made any
common stock repurchases under this program in the last three years. As of December 31, 2019, we had remaining $125.6 for repurchase under the Board of
Directors’ authorization.

 
NOTE 13 - Share-based Compensation

     

In May 2019, our stockholders approved the 2019 Omnibus Supplemental Incentive Plan (“OSIP”), which authorizes granting an aggregate maximum of 14.4
million shares under the OSIP through May 31, 2029. The OSIP permits and the prior Stock Incentive Plan permitted the granting of nonqualified stock
option, restricted stock, performance shares and restricted stock unit awards to our directors, officers and other employees. Under the OSIP, any dividends on
unvested awards are subject to the same restrictions as the underlying award. Approximately 14 million shares were available for future grant as of December
31, 2019.

Share-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, is presented below:

Share-based Compensation Expense  2019  2018  2017
Stock options  $ 2.5  $ 2.5  $ 2.1
Restricted stock  2.3  3.1  2.9
Restricted stock units issued to Directors  1.1  1.2  1.2
Performance shares  2.3  2.0  1.5
Equity-based long-term performance plan  1.0  0.4  —
Share-based compensation expense  $ 9.2  $ 9.2  $ 7.7

Stock Options

Stock options have a maximum term of ten years and holders may not exercise them earlier than six months after the grant date or another term the award
agreement may specify. Stock options granted to officers and other employees vest and become exercisable in three equal installments on the first, second
and third anniversaries of the grant date. The exercise price of each option must equal or exceed the market price of our common stock on the grant date. We
have not and, pursuant to the terms of our plans may not, reprice stock options to lower the exercise price.

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to value the nonqualified stock options. We use historical data of stock option exercise behaviors to
estimate the expected life that granted options will be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate is based on the Daily Treasury Yield Curve published by the U.S.
Treasury on the grant date. The expected volatility is determined by using a blend of historical and implied volatility. We do not expect to pay dividends over
the term of the options based on our current dividend policy. We also estimate that option holders will forfeit 5% of the options.

The following weighted-average assumptions are used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of granted options as of the grant
date:

  2019  2018  2017
Expected volatility  63.6% – 65.3%  58.8% – 61.6%  61.5% – 64.0%
Weighted-average volatility  64.5%  59.5%  62.5%
Expected term (in years)  3.5 – 6.6  3.4 – 6.6  3.3 – 6.5
Risk-free interest rate  2.6% – 2.7%  2.3% – 2.6%  1.6% – 2.2%
Weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of granted options  $1.52  $3.51  $5.33
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Option activity for the year ended December 31, 2019, is presented below:

Stock Options  Shares  

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price  

Weighted- Average
Remaining

Contractual Life (in
years)  

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018  3,403,862  $ 6.90     
Granted  1,199,415  2.66     
Exercised  (43,167 )  1.74     
Forfeited and expired  (428,701 )  11.38     

Outstanding at December 31, 2019  4,131,409  5.26  6.9  $ 1.6

         
Exercisable at December 31, 2019  2,215,816  6.01  5.3  0.8

         
Unvested at December 31, 2019  1,915,593  4.39  8.4  0.7

         
Unvested at December 31, 2019 expected to vest  1,819,813  4.39  8.4  0.7

The total intrinsic value of stock option awards that holders exercised during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $0.1, $0.3 and $0.2.
Each exercised option’s intrinsic value is the quoted average of the reported high and low sales price on the exercise date. As of December 31, 2019, total
unrecognized compensation costs for non-vested stock options were $0.8, which we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock awards granted to officers and other employees ordinarily vest ratably on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant. Non-vested
restricted stock awards activity for the year ended December 31, 2019, is presented below:

Restricted Stock Awards  Restricted Shares  

Weighted-
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018  506,703  $ 6.45
Granted  772,054  2.65
Vested/restrictions lapsed  (745,001 )  3.98
Canceled  (93,651 )  4.32

Outstanding at December 31, 2019  440,105  4.42

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, was $2.65, $6.56
and $9.78 per share. The total intrinsic value of restricted stock awards that vested (i.e., restrictions lapsed) during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, was $2.0, $3.2 and $4.1. As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized compensation costs for non-vested restricted stock awards were $0.9,
which we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) represent equity-based compensation granted to Directors. RSU grants vest immediately, but we do not settle them (i.e., issue
the underlying shares of stock) until one year after the grant date, unless a Director elects to defer the settlement to six months after his or her Board service is
terminated. They may elect to take settlement in a single distribution or in annual installments up to fifteen years.

Performance Shares

Performance shares are granted to executive officers and other employees. They earn the awards by meeting performance measures over a three-year
period. Though a target number of performance shares are awarded on
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the grant date, for 2019 and 2018 grants the total number of performance shares that will actually be issued to the participant, if any, at the expiration of the
performance period will be based on our total share return compared to the VanEck Vectors Steel ETF. For 2017, the total number of performance shares that
will be issued to the participant, if any, at the expiration of the performance period for those grants will be based on two equally-rated metrics: (i) our share
performance compared to a prescribed compounded annual growth rate and (ii) our total share return compared to the VanEck Vectors Steel ETF.

The following weighted-average assumptions are used in a Monte Carlo simulation model to estimate the fair value of performance shares granted:

  2019  2018  2017
Company expected volatility  62.3  67.3  68.0
VanEck Vectors Steel ETF expected volatility  45.3  52.2  48.9
Risk-free interest rate  2.6  2.2  1.5
Weighted-average grant-date fair value per performance share granted  $ 3.09  $ 8.05  $ 10.78

Non-vested performance share awards activity for the year ended December 31, 2019, is presented below:

Performance Share Awards  
Performance

Shares  

Weighted- Average
Grant Date Fair

Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018  614,800  $ 9.19
Granted  595,733  3.09
Earned  —  —
Expired or forfeited  (338,058 )  9.38
Outstanding at December 31, 2019  872,475  4.95

As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized compensation costs for non-vested performance share awards were $2.1, which we expect to recognize over a
weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Equity-based Long-term Performance Plan

During 2018, in order to further align our management and stockholder interests, the Board of Directors changed the structure of long-term incentive
compensation for executive officers. For performance periods beginning in 2019, 50% of the long-term incentive plan compensation earned by executive
officers will now be denominated in stock instead of the 30% denominated in stock for the performance period that began in 2018. In addition, beginning in
2019, 30% of the compensation earned by other non-executive officer participants under the long-term incentive plan will now be paid in stock. The remaining
portion of the long-term incentive plan for all participants will be settled in cash. As a result, the equity-based portion of the long-term incentive plan is treated
as share-based compensation with a performance condition.

Non-vested long-term performance plan share awards activity for the year ended December 31, 2019, is presented below:

Long-Term Performance Plan Share Awards  

Long-Term
Performance Plan

Shares  

Weighted- Average
Grant Date Fair

Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018  250,400  $ 5.04
Granted  678,714  2.66
Expired or forfeited  (70,900 )  3.39
Outstanding at December 31, 2019  858,214  3.24

As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized compensation costs for non-vested long-term performance share awards were $1.6, which we expect to
recognize over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years.  
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NOTE 14 - Comprehensive Income (Loss)

     

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, information is presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Foreign currency translation       
Balance at beginning of period  $ (0.6)  $ 1.1  $ (3.6)
Other comprehensive income (loss)—foreign currency translation gain (loss)  (0.6)  (1.7)  4.7
Balance at end of period  $ (1.2)  $ (0.6)  $ 1.1

Cash flow hedges       
Balance at beginning of period  $ 7.2  $ 22.3  $ 39.9
Cumulative effect of adopting new hedging standard  —  0.8  —
Other comprehensive income (loss):       
Gains (losses) arising in period  (31.5)  (5.6)  (11.5)
Income tax expense (benefit)  (1.1)  —  —
Gains (losses) arising in period, net of tax  (30.4)  (5.6)  (11.5)
Reclassification of losses (gains) to net income (loss):       
Recorded in cost of products sold  8.9  (10.3)  (6.1)
Income tax (expense) benefit (b)  0.3  —  —
Net amount of reclassification of losses (gains) to net income (loss), net of tax  8.6  (10.3)  (6.1)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax  (21.8)  (15.9)  (17.6)
Balance at end of period  $ (14.6)  $ 7.2  $ 22.3

Pension and OPEB plans       
Balance at beginning of period  $ (106.6)  $ (73.6)  $ (125.0)
Other comprehensive income (loss):       
Prior service credit (cost) arising in period  —  11.1  4.7
Gains (losses) arising in period  50.5  (63.6)  94.2
Subtotal  50.5  (52.5)  98.9
Income tax expense (benefit)  2.0  —  —
Gains (losses) arising in period, net of tax  48.5  (52.5)  98.9
Reclassification to net income (loss):       
Prior service costs (credits) (a)  (9.6)  (9.8)  (53.8)
Actuarial (gains) losses (a)  15.7  29.3  6.3
Subtotal  6.1  19.5  (47.5)
Income tax (expense) benefit (b)  0.2  —  —
Amount of reclassification to net income (loss), net of tax  5.9  19.5  (47.5)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax  54.4  (33.0)  51.4
Balance at end of period  $ (52.2)  $ (106.6)  $ (73.6)

(a) Included in pension and OPEB (income)
expense

(b) Included in income tax expense
(benefit)

38



 

NOTE 15 - Earnings per Share

     

Reconciliation of the numerators and denominators for basic and diluted EPS computations is presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Net income attributable to AK Steel Holding Corporation  $ 11.2  $ 186.0  $ 103.5

       
Common shares outstanding (weighted-average shares in millions):       

Common shares outstanding for basic earnings per share  315.8  314.8  314.3
Effect of exchangeable debt  —  —  4.5
Effect of dilutive stock-based compensation  0.8  0.8  0.9

Common shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share  316.6  315.6  319.7

       
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.04  $ 0.59  $ 0.33

Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.04  $ 0.59  $ 0.32

       
Potentially issuable common shares (in millions) excluded from earnings per share calculation due to
anti-dilutive effect  3.6  2.4  1.4

 
NOTE 16 - Variable Interest Entities

     

SunCoke Middletown

We purchase all the coke and electrical power generated from SunCoke Middletown’s plant under long-term supply agreements. SunCoke Middletown is a
variable interest entity because we have committed to purchase all the expected production from the facility through at least 2031 and we are the primary
beneficiary. Therefore, we consolidate SunCoke Middletown’s financial results with our financial results, even though we have no ownership interest in
SunCoke Middletown. SunCoke Middletown had income before income taxes of $52.2, $58.4 and $61.7 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017 that was included in our consolidated income before income taxes.

Vicksmetal/Armco Associates

We own a 50% interest in Vicksmetal/Armco Associates (“VAA”), a joint venture with Vicksmetal Company. VAA slits electrical steel primarily for AK Steel,
though also for third parties. VAA is a variable interest entity and we are the primary beneficiary. Therefore, we consolidate VAA’s financial results with our
financial results.

 
NOTE 17 - Fair Value Measurements

     

We measure certain assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
(i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, we use various valuation
approaches. The hierarchy of those valuation approaches is in three levels based on the reliability of inputs. Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Below is a summary of the hierarchy levels:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access at the measurement date.
• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices, that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include model-

generated values that rely on inputs either directly observed or readily derived from available market data sources, such as Bloomberg or other
news and data vendors. They include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability (e.g., interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals or current market) and
contractual prices for the underlying
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financial instrument, as well as other relevant economic factors. As a practical expedient, we estimate the value of money market mutual funds by
using a $1.00 per share multiplied by the number of shares in the fund as of the measurement date. We generate fair values for our commodity
derivative contracts and foreign currency forward contracts from observable futures prices for the respective commodity or currency, from sources
such as the New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX) or the London Metal Exchange (LME). In cases where the derivative is an option contract
(including caps, floors and collars), we adjust our valuations to reflect the counterparty’s valuation assumptions. After validating that the
counterparty’s assumptions for implied volatilities reflect independent source’s assumptions, we discount these model-generated future values with
discount factors that reflect the counterparty’s credit quality. We apply different discount rates to different contracts since the maturities and
counterparties differ. As of December 31, 2019, a spread over benchmark rates of less than 1.4% was used for derivatives valued as assets and
less than 4.0% for derivatives valued as liabilities. We have estimated the fair value of long-term debt based upon quoted market prices for the
same or similar issues or on the current interest rates available to us for debt on similar terms and with similar maturities.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that observable
inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement
date. This level of categorization is not applicable to our valuations on a normal recurring basis.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are presented below:

  2019  2018
  Level 1  Level 2  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Total
Assets measured at fair value             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 31.0  $ —  $ 31.0  $ 48.6  $ —  $ 48.6
Other current assets:             
Foreign exchange contracts  —  —  —  —  0.1  0.1
Commodity hedge contracts  —  12.9  12.9  —  13.0  13.0
Other non-current assets:             
Foreign exchange contracts  —  0.1  0.1  —  0.4  0.4
Commodity hedge contracts  —  2.7  2.7  —  2.9  2.9

Assets measured at fair value  $ 31.0  $ 15.7  $ 46.7  $ 48.6  $ 16.4  $ 65.0

             

Liabilities measured at fair value             
Accrued liabilities:             
Foreign exchange contracts  $ —  $ (0.5)  $ (0.5)  $ —  $ (1.2)  $ (1.2)
Commodity hedge contracts  —  (16.5)  (16.5)  —  (5.9)  (5.9)
Other non-current liabilities:             
Foreign exchange contracts  —  (0.2)  (0.2)  —  (1.5)  (1.5)
Commodity hedge contracts  —  (1.9)  (1.9)  —  (1.6)  (1.6)

Liabilities measured at fair value  $ —  $ (19.1)  $ (19.1)  $ —  $ (10.2)  $ (10.2)

             
Liabilities measured at other than fair value             
Long-term debt, including current portions:             
Fair value  $ —  $ (2,023.5)  $ (2,023.5)  $ —  $ (1,852.4)  $ (1,852.4)
Carrying amount  —  (1,968.8)  (1,968.8)  —  (1,993.7)  (1,993.7)

See Note 8 for information on the fair value of pension plan assets. The carrying amounts of our other financial instruments do not differ materially from their
estimated fair values at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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NOTE 18 - Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

     

Exchange rate fluctuations affect a portion of revenues and operating costs that are denominated in foreign currencies, and we use forward currency and
currency option contracts to reduce our exposure to certain of these currency price fluctuations. Contracts to sell euros have not been designated as cash flow
hedges for accounting purposes, and gains or losses are reported in earnings immediately in other (income) expense. Contracts to purchase Canadian dollars
are designated as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes, and we record the gains and losses for the derivatives and premiums paid for option contracts in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until we reclassify them into cost of products sold when we recognize the associated underlying operating
costs.
 
We are exposed to fluctuations in market prices of raw materials and energy sources. We may use cash-settled commodity price swaps and options to hedge
the market risk associated with the purchase of certain of our raw materials and energy requirements. For input commodities, these derivatives are typically
used for a portion of our electricity, iron ore, natural gas, nickel and zinc requirements. Our hedging strategy is to reduce the effect on earnings from the price
volatility of these various commodity exposures, including timing differences between when we incur raw material commodity costs and when we receive sales
surcharges from our customers based on those raw materials. Independent of any hedging activities, price changes in any of these commodity markets could
negatively affect operating costs.

All commodity derivatives are recognized as an asset or liability at fair value. We record the gains and losses and premiums paid for option contracts for
commodity derivatives designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted purchases of raw materials and energy sources in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) and reclassify them into cost of products sold when we recognize earnings for the associated underlying transaction. We record all gains or
losses from commodity derivatives for which hedge accounting treatment has not been elected to earnings immediately in cost of products sold. We routinely
use iron ore derivatives to reduce the volatility of the cost of our iron ore purchases. These derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. We have
no collateral deposited with counterparties under collateral funding arrangements as of December 31, 2019.

Outstanding derivative contracts and the period over which we are hedging our exposure to the volatility in future cash flows are presented below:

Hedge Contracts  Settlement Dates  2019  2018
Commodity contracts:       

Nickel (in lbs)  January 2020 to June 2020  150,000   —  
Natural gas (in MMBTUs)  January 2020 to December 2021  37,708,000   39,868,000  
Zinc (in lbs)  January 2020 to December 2021  35,550,000   52,150,000  
Iron ore (in metric tons)  January 2020 to June 2021  1,495,000   2,125,000  
Electricity (in MWHs)  January 2020 to August 2021  1,683,000   1,461,000  

Foreign exchange contracts:       
Euros (in millions)  January 2020 to January 2020  €  1.5  €  4.0
Canadian dollars (in millions)  January 2020 to December 2021  C$  72.6  C$  118.6
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The fair value of derivative instruments as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, is presented below:

Asset (liability)  2019  2018
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:     

Other current assets—commodity contracts  $ 0.1  $ 3.4
Other non-current assets:     

Commodity contracts  —  1.0
Foreign exchange contracts  0.1  0.4

Accrued liabilities:     
Commodity contracts  (16.5)  (4.7)
Foreign exchange contracts  (0.5)  (1.2)

Other non-current liabilities:     
Commodity contracts  (1.9)  (1.2)
Foreign exchange contracts  (0.2)  (1.5)

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:     
Other current assets:     

Commodity contracts  12.8  9.6
Foreign exchange contracts  —  0.1

Other non-current assets—commodity contracts  2.7  1.9
Accrued liabilities—commodity contracts  —  (1.2)
Other non-current liabilities—commodity contracts  —  (0.4)

Gains (losses) on derivative instruments for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, are presented below:

Gain (loss)  2019  2018  2017
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:       

Commodity contracts:       
Recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income that were included in the assessment of
effectiveness  $ (32.3)  $ (0.2)  $ (11.5)
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into cost of products sold  (7.2)  11.2  6.1

Foreign exchange contract:       
Recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income that were included in the assessment of
effectiveness  0.8  (5.4)  —
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into cost of products sold  (1.7)  (0.9)  —

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:       
Commodity contracts—recognized in cost of products sold  52.2  (2.4)  31.6
Foreign exchange contracts—recognized in other (income) expense  —  0.1  (1.6)

Gains (losses) before tax expected to be reclassified into cost of products sold within the next twelve months for our existing commodity contracts that qualify
for hedge accounting are presented below:

 

  

Hedge Gains (losses)
Natural gas $ (10.5)
Electricity (5.8)
Zinc (3.1)
Canadian dollars (1.3)
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NOTE 19 - Supplementary Cash Flow Information

     

Net cash paid (received) during the period for interest, net of capitalized interest, and income taxes are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Net cash paid (received) during the period for:       

Interest, net of capitalized interest  $ 137.5  $ 136.3  $ 130.5
Income taxes  (9.5)  (5.5)  0.1

Included in net cash flows from operations was cash provided by SunCoke Middletown of $68.6, $76.6 and $77.1 for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017. Consolidated cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2019, and 2018, include SunCoke Middletown’s cash and cash equivalents of $0.1
and $1.1. SunCoke Middletown’s cash and cash equivalents have no compensating balance arrangements or legal restrictions, but are not available for our
use.

We had capital investments during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, that had not been paid as of the end of the respective period. These
amounts are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and have been excluded from the consolidated statements of cash flows until paid. We also
granted restricted stock to certain employees and restricted stock units to directors under the OSIP and prior Stock Incentive Plan. Non-cash investing and
financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, are presented below:

  2019  2018  2017
Capital investments  $ 50.9  $ 33.4  $ 37.3
Issuance of restricted stock and restricted stock units  2.8  4.5  4.6

 
NOTE 20 - Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

     

  2019

  
First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  Year

Net sales  $ 1,697.7  $ 1,680.5  $ 1,535.5  $ 1,445.7  $ 6,359.4
Operating profit  41.2  106.6  51.1  10.4  209.3
Net income (loss) attributable to AK Holding  (4.5)  66.8  2.8  (53.9)  11.2
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ (0.01)  $ 0.21  $ 0.01  $ (0.17)  $ 0.04
           
  2018

  
First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  Year

Net sales  $ 1,658.9  $ 1,746.6  $ 1,735.6  $ 1,677.1  $ 6,818.2
Operating profit  63.6  99.5  114.8  86.5  364.4
Net income (loss) attributable to AK Holding  28.7  56.6  67.2  33.5  186.0
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ 0.09  $ 0.18  $ 0.21  $ 0.11  $ 0.59

Included in net income (loss) attributable to AK Holding in the first quarter, fourth quarter and full year of 2019 was a charge of $77.4, a credit of $8.1 and a
charge of $69.3, respectively, for the Ashland Works closure. Also included in net income (loss) attributable to AK Holding in the fourth quarter and full year of
2019 was a pension settlement charge of $26.9. Included in net income (loss) attributable to AK Holding in the fourth quarter and full year of 2018 was a
pension settlement charge of $14.5.
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NOTE 21 - Supplementary Guarantor Information

     

AK Steel’s Secured Notes, 2021 Notes, 2025 Notes and 2027 Notes (collectively, the “Senior Notes”) are governed by indentures entered into by AK Holding
and its 100%-owned subsidiary, AK Steel. Under the terms of the indentures, AK Holding and the Subsidiary Guarantors each fully and unconditionally, jointly
and severally, guarantee the payment of interest, principal and premium, if any, on each of the notes included in the Senior Notes.

We present all investments in subsidiaries in the supplementary guarantor information using the equity method of accounting. Therefore, the net income (loss)
of the subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method is in their parents’ investment accounts. The principal elimination entries eliminate investments in
subsidiaries and inter-company balances and transactions. The following supplementary condensed consolidating financial statements present information
about AK Holding, AK Steel, the Subsidiary Guarantors and the other non-guarantor subsidiaries.

Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Year Ended December 31, 2019

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
Net sales $ —  $ 5,784.3  $ 304.1  $ 751.5  $ (480.5)  $ 6,359.4
Cost of products sold (exclusive of items shown
separately below) —  5,228.5  212.9  598.5  (433.6)  5,606.3
Selling and administrative expenses 4.3  283.0  13.8  40.0  (45.9)  295.2
Depreciation —  142.1  8.5  42.0  —  192.6
Ashland Works closure —  56.0  —  —  —  56.0
Total operating costs 4.3  5,709.6  235.2  680.5  (479.5)  6,150.1
Operating profit (loss) (4.3)  74.7  68.9  71.0  (1.0)  209.3
Interest expense —  139.3  —  7.3  —  146.6
Pension and OPEB (income) expense —  12.0  —  —  —  12.0
Other (income) expense —  2.6  (23.2)  (4.1)  6.2  (18.5)
Income (loss) before income taxes (4.3)  (79.2)  92.1  67.8  (7.2)  69.2
Income tax expense (benefit) —  (25.4)  23.0  10.5  (1.9)  6.2
Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries 15.5  69.3  —  1.9  (86.7)  —
Net income (loss) 11.2  15.5  69.1  59.2  (92.0)  63.0
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests —  —  —  51.8  —  51.8
Net income (loss) attributable to AK Steel Holding
Corporation 11.2  15.5  69.1  7.4  (92.0)  11.2
Other comprehensive income (loss) 32.0  32.0  —  (0.6)  (31.4)  32.0
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AK Steel
Holding Corporation $ 43.2  $ 47.5  $ 69.1  $ 6.8  $ (123.4)  $ 43.2
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Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Year Ended December 31, 2018

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
Net sales $ —  $ 6,244.7  $ 320.8  $ 752.8  $ (500.1)  $ 6,818.2
Cost of products sold (exclusive of items shown
separately below) —  5,519.8  221.4  620.9  (451.1)  5,911.0
Selling and administrative expenses 3.5  320.0  14.5  34.2  (49.6)  322.6
Depreciation —  171.5  8.0  40.7  —  220.2
Total operating costs 3.5  6,011.3  243.9  695.8  (500.7)  6,453.8
Operating profit (loss) (3.5)  233.4  76.9  57.0  0.6  364.4
Interest expense —  145.9  —  5.7  —  151.6
Pension and OPEB (income) expense —  (19.2)  —  —  —  (19.2)
Other (income) expense —  8.7  (16.4)  (2.9)  4.7  (5.9)
Income (loss) before income taxes (3.5)  98.0  93.3  54.2  (4.1)  237.9
Income tax expense (benefit) —  (26.5)  23.3  (2.0)  (1.0)  (6.2)
Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries 189.5  65.0  —  0.7  (255.2)  —
Net income (loss) 186.0  189.5  70.0  56.9  (258.3)  244.1
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests —  —  —  58.1  —  58.1
Net income (loss) attributable to AK Steel Holding
Corporation 186.0  189.5  70.0  (1.2)  (258.3)  186.0
Other comprehensive income (loss) (50.6)  (50.6)  —  (1.7)  52.3  (50.6)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AK Steel
Holding Corporation $ 135.4  $ 138.9  $ 70.0  $ (2.9)  $ (206.0)  $ 135.4
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Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Year Ended December 31, 2017

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
Net sales $ —  $ 5,755.1  $ 285.9  $ 496.3  $ (456.8)  $ 6,080.5
Cost of products sold (exclusive of items shown
separately below) —  5,082.0  197.7  387.2  (413.8)  5,253.1
Selling and administrative expenses 3.7  285.5  13.5  26.9  (44.7)  284.9
Depreciation —  189.3  7.5  29.2  —  226.0
Asset impairment charge —  75.6  —  —  —  75.6
Credit for adjustment of liability for transportation costs —  (19.3)  —  —  —  (19.3)
Total operating costs 3.7  5,613.1  218.7  443.3  (458.5)  5,820.3
Operating profit (loss) (3.7)  142.0  67.2  53.0  1.7  260.2
Interest expense —  150.3  —  2.0  —  152.3
Pension and OPEB (income) expense —  (71.9)  —  —  —  (71.9)
Other (income) expense —  30.1  (11.4)  (5.4)  3.8  17.1
Income (loss) before income taxes (3.7)  33.5  78.6  56.4  (2.1)  162.7
Income tax expense (benefit) —  (29.4)  29.9  (1.8)  (0.9)  (2.2)
Equity in net income (loss) of subsidiaries 107.2  44.3  —  —  (151.5)  —
Net income (loss) 103.5  107.2  48.7  58.2  (152.7)  164.9
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests —  —  —  61.4  —  61.4
Net income (loss) attributable to AK Steel Holding
Corporation 103.5  107.2  48.7  (3.2)  (152.7)  103.5
Other comprehensive income (loss) 38.5  38.5  —  4.7  (43.2)  38.5
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AK Steel
Holding Corporation $ 142.0  $ 145.7  $ 48.7  $ 1.5  $ (195.9)  $ 142.0
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Condensed Balance Sheets
December 31, 2019

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
ASSETS            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents $ —  $ 11.8  $ 0.1  $ 19.1  $ —  $ 31.0
Accounts receivable, net —  437.4  25.7  124.1  (9.3)  577.9
Inventory —  1,214.9  56.0  85.5  (10.2)  1,346.2
Other current assets —  59.1  0.2  5.9  —  65.2

Total current assets —  1,723.2  82.0  234.6  (19.5)  2,020.3
Property, plant and equipment —  6,234.4  199.5  735.0  —  7,168.9

Accumulated depreciation —  (4,917.2)  (111.3)  (208.5)  —  (5,237.0)
Property, plant and equipment, net —  1,317.2  88.2  526.5  —  1,931.9
Other non-current assets:            

Investment in subsidiaries (3,108.8)  2,023.7  —  72.0  1,013.1  —
Inter-company accounts 3,260.3  —  1,734.6  —  (4,994.9)  —
Goodwill and intangible assets —  —  32.8  260.6  —  293.4
Other non-current assets —  248.6  2.8  93.6  —  345.0

TOTAL ASSETS $ 151.5  $ 5,312.7  $ 1,940.4  $ 1,187.3  $ (4,001.3)  $ 4,590.6

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT)            
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable $ —  $ 614.2  $ 25.4  $ 70.1  $ (4.6)  $ 705.1
Accrued liabilities —  276.0  8.8  29.6  —  314.4
Current portion of pension and other postretirement
benefit obligations —  40.7  —  0.3  —  41.0

Total current liabilities —  930.9  34.2  100.0  (4.6)  1,060.5
Non-current liabilities:            

Long-term debt —  1,968.8  —  —  —  1,968.8
Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations —  714.8  —  3.0  —  717.8
Inter-company accounts —  4,513.6  —  558.6  (5,072.2)  —

Other non-current liabilities —  293.4  2.1  70.7  —  366.2
TOTAL LIABILITIES —  8,421.5  36.3  732.3  (5,076.8)  4,113.3
Equity (deficit):            
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 151.5  (3,108.8)  1,904.1  129.2  1,075.5  151.5

Noncontrolling interests
—  —  —  325.8  —  325.8

TOTAL EQUITY (DEFICIT) 151.5  (3,108.8)  1,904.1  455.0  1,075.5  477.3

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 151.5  $ 5,312.7  $ 1,940.4  $ 1,187.3  $ (4,001.3)  $ 4,590.6
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Condensed Balance Sheets
December 31, 2018

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
ASSETS            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents $ —  $ 22.1  $ 8.2  $ 18.3  $ —  $ 48.6
Accounts receivable, net —  515.4  34.0  95.3  (8.9)  635.8
Inventory —  1,299.6  53.9  75.6  (9.2)  1,419.9
Other current assets —  85.5  0.1  11.4  —  97.0

Total current assets —  1,922.6  96.2  200.6  (18.1)  2,201.3
Property, plant and equipment —  6,111.1  189.7  668.4  —  6,969.2

Accumulated depreciation —  (4,785.5)  (102.8)  (169.3)  —  (5,057.6)
Property, plant and equipment, net —  1,325.6  86.9  499.1  —  1,911.6
Other non-current assets:            

Investment in subsidiaries (3,017.4)  1,931.1  —  68.2  1,018.1  —
Inter-company accounts 3,117.3  —  1,630.7  —  (4,748.0)  —
Goodwill and intangible assets —  —  32.9  266.0  —  298.9
Other non-current assets —  54.3  —  49.6  —  103.9

TOTAL ASSETS $ 99.9  $ 5,233.6  $ 1,846.7  $ 1,083.5  $ (3,748.0)  $ 4,515.7

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT)            
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable $ —  $ 722.5  $ 26.2  $ 55.5  $ (3.2)  $ 801.0
Accrued liabilities —  251.5  8.7  28.7  —  288.9
Current portion of pension and other postretirement
benefit obligations —  38.4  —  0.3  —  38.7

Total current liabilities —  1,012.4  34.9  84.5  (3.2)  1,128.6
Non-current liabilities:            

Long-term debt —  1,993.7  —  —  —  1,993.7
Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations —  827.0  —  2.9  —  829.9
Inter-company accounts —  4,312.3  —  511.2  (4,823.5)  —
Other non-current liabilities —  105.6  0.2  28.2  —  134.0

TOTAL LIABILITIES —  8,251.0  35.1  626.8  (4,826.7)  4,086.2
Equity (deficit):            
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 99.9  (3,017.4)  1,811.6  127.1  1,078.7  99.9
Noncontrolling interests

—  —  —  329.6  —  329.6
TOTAL EQUITY (DEFICIT) 99.9  (3,017.4)  1,811.6  456.7  1,078.7  429.5

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 99.9  $ 5,233.6  $ 1,846.7  $ 1,083.5  $ (3,748.0)  $ 4,515.7
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2019

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
Net cash flows from operating activities $ (3.2)  $ 114.6  $ 76.2  $ 83.6  $ (5.3)  $ 265.9
Cash flows from investing activities:            
Capital investments —  (133.5)  (3.8)  (57.5)  —  (194.8)
Other investing items, net —  6.6  —  —  —  6.6
Net cash flows from investing activities —  (126.9)  (3.8)  (57.5)  —  (188.2)
Cash flows from financing activities:            
Net borrowings (repayments) under credit facility —  115.0  —  —  —  115.0
Redemption of long-term debt —  (152.3)  —  —  —  (152.3)
Inter-company activity 3.9  41.0  (80.5)  30.3  5.3  —
SunCoke Middletown distributions to noncontrolling
interest owners —  —  —  (55.6)  —  (55.6)
Other financing items, net (0.7)  (1.7)  —  —  —  (2.4)
Net cash flows from financing activities 3.2  2.0  (80.5)  (25.3)  5.3  (95.3)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents —  (10.3)  (8.1)  0.8  —  (17.6)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year —  22.1  8.2  18.3  —  48.6

Cash and equivalents, end of year $ —  $ 11.8  $ 0.1  $ 19.1  $ —  $ 31.0

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2018

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
Net cash flows from operating activities $ (2.3)  $ 209.7  $ 83.1  $ 83.8  $ (9.6)  $ 364.7
Cash flows from investing activities:            
Capital investments —  (122.9)  (8.1)  (21.0)  —  (152.0)
Other investing items, net —  0.8  —  (0.7)  —  0.1
Net cash flows from investing activities —  (122.1)  (8.1)  (21.7)  —  (151.9)
Cash flows from financing activities:            
Net borrowings (repayments) under credit facility —  (115.0)  —  —  —  (115.0)
Redemption of long-term debt —  (12.6)  —  —  —  (12.6)
Inter-company activity 2.5  48.3  (74.0)  13.6  9.6  —
SunCoke Middletown distributions to noncontrolling
interest owners —  —  —  (73.7)  —  (73.7)
Other financing items, net (0.2)  (0.7)  —  —  —  (0.9)
Net cash flows from financing activities 2.3  (80.0)  (74.0)  (60.1)  9.6  (202.2)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents —  7.6  1.0  2.0  —  10.6
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year —  14.5  7.2  16.3  —  38.0

Cash and equivalents, end of year $ —  $ 22.1  $ 8.2  $ 18.3  $ —  $ 48.6
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2017

 
AK

Holding  
AK

Steel  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  

Other Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  Eliminations  
Consolidated

Company
Net cash flows from operating activities $ (2.5)  $ 67.3  $ 73.3  $ 61.7  $ (1.0)  $ 198.8
Cash flows from investing activities:            
Capital investments —  (131.8)  (5.6)  (15.1)  —  (152.5)
Investment in acquired business, net of cash
acquired —  (360.4)  —  —  —  (360.4)
Other investing items, net —  4.0  —  0.2  —  4.2
Net cash flows from investing activities —  (488.2)  (5.6)  (14.9)  —  (508.7)
Cash flows from financing activities:            
Net borrowings (repayments) under credit facility —  450.0  —  —  —  450.0
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt —  680.0  —  —  —  680.0
Redemption of long-term debt —  (848.4)  —  —  —  (848.4)
Debt issuance costs —  (25.3)  —  —  —  (25.3)
Inter-company activity 5.0  31.2  (64.9)  27.7  1.0  —
SunCoke Middletown distributions to noncontrolling
interest owners —  —  —  (79.1)  —  (79.1)
Other financing items, net (2.5)  —  —  —  —  (2.5)
Net cash flows from financing activities 2.5  287.5  (64.9)  (51.4)  1.0  174.7
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents —  (133.4)  2.8  (4.6)  —  (135.2)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year —  147.9  4.4  20.9  —  173.2

Cash and equivalents, end of year $ —  $ 14.5  $ 7.2  $ 16.3  $ —  $ 38.0
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